TOWN OF ELLINGTON TOWN CLERK'S OFFICE



MEMO

Subject:	Charter Revision Commission Final Draft Report
From:	Donna G. Hosey, Town Clerk
То:	Lori Spielman and the Board of Selectmen
Date:	August 8, 2024

Please see the attached Charter Revision Minutes from the August 7, 2024 meeting which I received in the Town Clerk's Office today.

The minutes include the Charter Revision Commission's final draft report, including their recommendations to the Charter for your review. Please be advised that the deadline to submit any Charter revision ballot questions for the November election to the Town Clerk's office is September 5, 2024.

Thank you.

/re



TOWN OF ELLINGTOMCEIVE Thomas Palshaw-Chair

PO Box 187 55 Main Street Ellington, Connecticut 06029 (860) 870-3100 VINCE VEThomas Palshaw-Chair Cynthia Soto-Vice Chair 24 AUG - 8 Wahren McGrath-Secretary Jamison Boucher ELLINGTON Joseph Burns TOWN CLERK Peter Hany Jr Thomas Modzelewski

2024 Charter Revision Commission

Charter Revision Commission Special Meeting Minutes

August 7, 2024 Ellington Town Hall Nicholas J. DiCorleto Jr. Meeting Room

Members Present: Tom Palshaw-Chair, Tom Modzelewski, Joseph Burns, Jamison Boucher, Peter Hany Jr., Warren McGrath and Cynthia Soto

Others Present: Jack Turner and Mary Cardin*, Board of Selectmen; Matthew Reed, Town Administrator; Liz Nord, Board of Finance; Wil Duchesneau

*Attended via zoom

I. CALL TO ORDER

Mr. Palshaw called the meeting of the Charter Revision Commission (CRC) to order at 6:00 PM.

II. ROLL CALL

Roll call was taken.

III. CITIZEN FORUM (non-agenda items)

Wil Duchesneau, 200 West Road, shared that he feels that the Charter should be gender neutral. Mr. Palshaw thanked Wil Duchesneau for his comments and explained that due to the time constraint of getting these questions on the November 2024 ballot, the Commission focused on the highest priority revisions for recommendation at this time. He asked Wil Duchesneau to forward his suggestions to the Commission so that they may be included in the report so that the Board of Selectmen can consider them with the next Commission.

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Ms. Soto asked that the minutes be amended to state that Mr. Modzelewski had a nay vote on the motion to send Section 1024 - Town Administrator Subsection (c) Removal of the Town Administrator to the Town Attorney to inform the Commission of what legal implications the words "just cause" can have.

MOVED (BURNS), SECONDED (MODZELEWSKI) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO APPROVE THE AMENDED MINUTES OF THE JULY 31, 2024 CHARTER REVISION COMMISSION MEETING.

"A great place to grow."

Page 2 of 2

- V. DISCUSSION ITEM(S)
 - a. Review Legal Opinion of "For Just Cause"

The Town Attorney's response to the CRC's question regarding "just cause" was provided to the members via email prior to the meeting for their review. The Town Attorney's comments were taken into consideration and discussion was held. Ms. Soto shared comparable Towns' Charters that do not include the "just cause" wording. An extensive discussion was held regarding the personnel rules as well. The CRC decided it was not necessary to include the words "just cause" in Section 1024 - Town Administrator Subsection (c) Removal of the Town Administrator. Ms. Cardin asked that the Town Attorney's email response be shared with the Board of Selectmen for their review [ATTACHED].

MOVED (BOUCHER), SECONDED (MCGRATH) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO REMOVE THE WORDS "JUST CAUSE" FROM SECTION 1024 – TOWN ADMINISTRATOR SUBSECTION (C) REMOVAL OF THE TOWN ADMINISTRATOR.

b. Discussion and Vote to Submit Final Report Draft Dated 8-7-24

Ms. Soto shared a portion of the Town of Bolton's Charter that she felt should be included under Section 1024 – Town Administrator, which included the following language: "The Town Administrator shall be bound by the provisions of the Town's Ethics Policies and Ordinances and shall at all times conduct themself in a professional and nonpartisan manner." Members agreed that this suggestion be included in the Appendix for the next CRC's consideration.

MOVED (BOUCHER), SECONDED (MODZELEWSKI) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO FORWARD THE CRC FINAL DRAFT REPORT [ATTACHED] TO THE BOARD OF SELECTMEN.

MOVED (SOTO), SECONDED (BOUCHER) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO RECESS THIS MEETING AT 6:36 P.M.

Chairman Palshaw called the meeting back in session at 6:48 P.M. He thanked all members for their participation and hard work.

c. Set Next meeting Date

No future meeting date was set.

VI. ADJOURNMENT

MOVED (MCGRATH), SECONDED (MODZELEWSKI) AND PASSED UNANIMOUSLY TO ADJOURN THE MEETING OF THE CHARTER REVISION COMMISSION AT 6:50 PM.

Respectfully submitted,

oury Einsidel

Rebecca Einsiedel Recording Secretary

"A great place to grow."

CHARTER REVISION COMMISION 2024 REPORT TO THE ELLINGTON BOARD OF SELECTMEN. FINAL DRAFT 8-7-24

Commission Members: Thomas Modzelewski, Warren McGrath, Cynthia Soto, Jamison Boucher, Peter Hany Jr., Joseph Burns, Thomas Palshaw (Chair)

A. INTRODUCTION

CGS 7-188 permits municipalities to organize their government by Charter. There is also a requirement in Charter, Chapter 1308, to periodically review that charter. This Commission was convened to meet that requirement.

There have been significant changes in the last 5 years. The Town Administrator's position was created and filled in accordance with the provisions Sections 1001, 801, 1203 of the existing charter. Missing however is how that position fits within the structure, and processes of the town. That is just one example, as there are other sections of the charter in need of updating and clarification.

Due to the large number of suggested changes, and the relatively short period of time available to have all the amendments properly considered, this commission may recommend only the most important amendments at this time, and to further recommend the town convene another commission to continue the process next year. See Appendix A

Items marked with an asterisk (*) are considered core questions. If one (*) question is included on the ballot then all (*) questions should be included as they are interrelated.

Recommended changes are printed in BOLD.

B. REFERENDUM QUESTIONS: Shall the Ellington Charter be amended as recommended below?

C. CHARTER AMENDMENT RECOMMENDATIONS

(1) SECTION 603 PROCEDURE

Delete references to the Auditing Committee. <u>"The Board of Selectmen shall appoint</u> an Auditing Committee consisting of not less than three (3) of their members whose duty it shall be to oversee and review all claims and charges against the town except those incurred by the Board of Education."

REASON: Outdated provision.

*(2) SECTION 801 THRU 803 FIRST SELECTMAN

***SECTION 801 GENERAL**

At each biennial town election a First Selectman shall be chosen by the electors of the town as provided in Chapter III of this Charter. The First Selectman shall be the chief executive officer of the town and shall receive such compensation as shall be recommended by the Board of Selectmen and approved in the annual budget. Said First Selectman shall be a full voting and participating member of the Board of Selectmen and shall preside, when present, at meetings of said board. The First Selectman, or another Selectman designated by the First Selectman shall be an ex-officio member of all other town boards, commissions, and agencies and shall receive such advance notification of any such meeting as is given to the members of said bodies. He or she shall have the full right of participation in discussions but shall not have the right to vote.

*SECTION 802 DUTIES

The First Selectman shall have all of the powers, duties, and responsibilities conferred upon that office by law, which are consistent with this Charter. The First Selectman shall have all the powers necessary or incidental to the discharge of the First Selectman's duties and responsibilities set forth in the town's Position Description 109. The First Selectman, as the chief elected official, may represent the town at local, regional, or statewide meetings, events, or various committees or task forces.

The First Selectman, under the general policy direction of the Board of Selectmen, shall be responsible for:

a. Providing guidance to the Town Administrator in the coordination and administration of the town agencies and departments, except those functions expressly reserved or delegated to such agencies by CGS.

b. The implementation of ordinances, resolutions, policies, and other actions voted by the Board of Selectmen, or at Town Meeting.

c. The continuous review of current and future needs of the town. The First Selectman may require reports and information submitted by the Town Administrator, or agencies reporting to the administrator.

d. Preside over the meetings of the Board of Selectmen, when present, and prepare the agenda in conjunction with the Town Administrator.

*SECTION 803 APPOINTMENTS AND TERMS Repeal Section 803

REASON: Replaced by Section 1024(d). To incorporate the Town Administrator into the organizational structure of the town, and to establish the First Selectman's position as part time. AUTORITY: CGS 7-188

*(3) SECTION 1001 OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS

There shall be the following administrative officers and departments for the town: Town Administrator, Town Clerk; Finance Officer; Tax Collector; Assessor; Emergency and Risk Manager; Director of Public Works; Building Official; Town Engineer; Town Attorney; Constables; Director of Health; Director of Recreation; Fire Marshal; Animal Control Officer; Director of Human Services; Youth Services Director; Senior Center Director; and Town Planner. The Board of Selectmen may recommend to the town meeting pursuant to the provisions of Section 703 of this Charter the creation of such additional or the elimination of such existing administrative offices and departments as it from time to time may deem appropriate and necessary to the best interest of the town. All administrative officers and department heads and their deputies and assistants shall receive compensation fixed by the Board of Selectmen; provided, however, no compensation shall be based upon any fees collected by them and all such fees collected by them shall be paid to the town treasury.

REASON: Update Section to the current status of Departments.

*(4) SECTION 1002 APPOINTMENT AND ELIGIBILITY

Replace the words "Section 803 of this Charter" with "Section 1024(d) of this Charter"

REASON: To incorporate the Town Administrator into the organizational structure of the town. AUTHORITY: CGS 7-188

(5) SECTION 1008 EMERGENCY & RISK MANAGER

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint an Emergency and Risk Manager who shall serve for an indefinite term. The Manager is responsible for the functions outlined in Ellington Position Description 710, including the review of and adjustments to the Town Emergency Plan as filed with the State Office of Emergency Management. He or she shall meet the qualifications described in the Town of Ellington Position Description 710.

REASON: Section 1008 is outdated.

(6) SECTION 1012 TOWN ENGINEER

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Town Engineer through in accordance with SECTION 1111 and as recommended by the Director of Public Works and Town Planner. The town, in the alternative, may hire an exempt town employee as the town engineer. The Town Engineer shall be a licensed civil engineer. The Town Engineer shall serve for an indefinite term. All powers and duties of said Town Engineer shall be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen.

REASON: To ensure that the purchases of services comply with the town's procurement policy Section 2.

*(7) SECTION 1024 TOWN ADMINISTRATOR (NEW) (a) Qualifications

The Town Administrator shall be chosen on the basis of their executive and administrative skills, character, education, training, experience, and shall meet the qualifications listed in the Ellington Position Description 108.

(b) Appointment

The Town Administrator shall be appointed by the Board of Selectmen. The Administrator is an exempt position of indefinite term. The compensation and benefits shall be in accordance with the town classification, policies and Section 1205 of this Charter

(c) Removal of the Town Administrator

The Town Administrator may be removed by a 2/3 vote of the entire membership of the Board of Selectmen. At least thirty (30) days before the proposed removal of the Administrator, the Board of Selectmen shall adopt a resolution stating their intention to remove the Administrator and the reasons therefore. A copy of the resolution shall be served on the Town Administrator who, within ten (10) working days, may demand a public hearing, in which case the Administrator shall not be removed until such hearing has been held. The Board of Selectmen may suspend from duty the Town Administrator upon passage of the resolution provided that the salary and benefits of the Administrator shall continue until removal from office. The action of the Board in removing the Town Administrator shall be final.

(d) Duties and Responsibilities

The Town administrator shall be the Chief Administrative Officer of the Town of Ellington and is responsible to the Board of Selectmen for the supervision, direction, and administration of all departments, agencies, and offices listed in Chapter 10 of this charter. The Town Administrator may perform the duties of any officer under his or her authority, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen. The Town Administrator may, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen, appoint or remove any administrative officer, or town employees in accordance with the provisions of CGS, provisions of Chapter XII of this Charter, or other rules and regulations concerning town employees. (Excludes employees under the Board of Education)

The Town Administrator may, with the approval of the Board of Selectmen, enter into contract or agreements with the United States government, or any agency there of, with the State of Connecticut or any agency or political subdivision there of, any person, body politic, or corporation.

The Town Administrator shall be responsible to the Board of Selectmen for the functions called out in the Town of Ellington Position Description 108 as approved or amended by the Board of Selectmen. The Town Administrator shall work collaboratively with the First Selectman.

REASON: To incorporate the Town Administrator into the town's organizational structure. AUTHORITY: CGS 7-188

*(8) SECTION 1109 EXPENDITURES AND ACCOUNTING

(b) No voucher, claim, or charge against the town, except those against the Board of Education, shall be paid until the same has been audited by the Finance Officer and approved by him or her for correctness and validity. Payment of all claims against the Board of Education shall be authorized by the Superintendent of Schools or his or her agent. Payment of all approved claims against all other town accounts shall be authorized by the First Selectman. Said authorization shall be valid when countersigned by the Finance Officer acting as the Treasurer provided, in the absence or inability to act of the First Selectman or Finance Officer, the Town Administrator shall substitute temporarily for said First Selectman or Finance Officer.

(f) Upon the recommendation and request of the Board of Selectmen (delete "<u>during the last</u> <u>three (3) months of the fiscal year</u>") the Board of Finance may, by resolution, transfer any unencumbered appropriation, balance, or portion thereof from one department, commission, board, or office to another provided, however, that this provision shall not apply to the Board of Education. No transfer shall be made from any appropriation for debt service and other statutory charges.

REASON: To include the Town Administrator and add flexibility in closing completed accounts.

(9) SECTION 1111 PURCHASING

Purchases for the Town of Ellington, except the Board of Education and the Probate Court, shall be made under such rules and regulations as may be established by the Board of Selectmen. For any purchase **that exceeds the limits established in Ellington Ordinance 28**-1, the Finance Officer shall invite sealed bids unless the Board of Selectmen shall decide it to be against the best interest of the town. The Finance Officer shall provide a minimum of ten (10) days public notice to potential bidders by publication at least once in a newspaper having circulation in the town. The Finance Officer shall, with the approval of the requesting board, commission, committee, or department, award the purchase or contract to the lowest responsible bidder thereon or may reject any or all such bids or proposals. All such sealed bids or proposals shall be opened publicly. For any purchase less than **the established limit** or such other amount required by law, the Finance Officer or his or her designee shall negotiate directly with prospective suppliers prior to the Finance Officer awarding the contract.

REASON: To harmonize the Charter with the provisions of Ordinance 28-1 and Town of Ellington Purchasing and Financial Controls Policy as authorized by CGS 7-148v. AUTORITY: Section 604 of this Charter

*(10) SECTION 1205 SALARIES

The Finance Officer shall prepare for the First Selectman and the Town Administrator a proposed standard, systematic schedule of pay for each class of positions in the classified service. The First Selectman or the Town Administrator shall submit the proposed pay plan to the Board of Selectmen with any changes he or she deems necessary and such proposed plan shall take effect when adopted by resolution of the Board of Selectmen. Amendments to the pay schedule may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen from time to time upon recommendation of the First Selectman or Town Administrator. For purposes of Chapter 113 of the General Statutes, as amended, the First Selectman or Town Administrator shall have the authority to recognize the exclusive bargaining agent for any unit of town employees and shall act as the bargaining agent for the town.

REASON: To include the Town Administrator with the supervising the Departments.

D. DRAFT SUBMITTED FOR THE 2024 CHARTER REVISION COMMISSION

SIGNED:

Thomas C. Palshaw, Chair

8-7-24 DATE:

APPENDIX A

OTHER POSSIBLE CHANGES

Because of the short time available to meet the requirements for voting the Charter changes during the 2024 election cycle, the Charter Revision Commission (CRC) was unable to address all of the submitted suggestions. The commission asks the BOS to convene another CRC to continue reviewing the Charter for the next election cycle.

SECTION 204 BREAKING A TIE

When any municipal election, other than a referendum, conducted pursuant to the provisions of this Charter results in a tie vote, with the consent of the tied candidates, the tie may be broken by the single toss of a coin by a third party agreeable to tied candidates. If the candidates do not agree, an adjourned election shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions CGS Section 9-332, as amended, to determine who shall be elected.

When a referendum conducted pursuant to the provisions of this Charter results in a tie, an adjourned election shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-332 of the General Statutes, as amended, to determine a question at referendum whether it shall be accepted or rejected.

This section shall not apply to questions at referendum or special election which, under the provisions of this Charter or the General Statutes, require a minimum number of electors voting in favor of such questions for approval.

REASON: Cost savings associated with elimination of need for a special election. AUTHORITY: CGS 9-188

SECTION 207 VOTING DISTRICTS

"The voting districts for state wide elections in the Town of Ellington are established by the State Legislature. Unless otherwise provided pursuant to state law, local ordinance, or act of the local legislative body, there shall be a minimum of two (2) voting districts in town.

The places for holding elections and referenda are established by the Registrars of Voters."

REASON: Section 207 is outdated AUTHORITY: Comply with CGS.

604 Due date for capital projects? Change from **Dec 1** to **Dec 31**.

1006 SECTION 1006, TAX AND REVENUE COLLECTOR (name change)

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Tax and Revenue Collector who shall be qualified by training and experience and who shall serve for an indefinite term. Said Tax and Revenue Collector shall have all the powers and duties, (delete not inconsistent) consistent with the provisions of this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes on such officers and such powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. Said Tax and Revenue Collector may appoint and may remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and pursuant to the provisions of Chapter XII of this Charter, all deputies, assistants or employees in his or her office.

- Public hearing verses public meeting? (Word change)
 Change "adoption" wording? (Word change)
 Add referendum language when to go to referendum by % of increase in budget? (See original list)
- 1107 Use of electronic tracking tools? (Modernize the tracking system)

1010 DPW changes? (Reduce the wording, simplify the section, refer to position descriptions where able)

Chapter IX: Consider if any ad-hoc committees should be permanent.

Question: Shall a resident serving on any elected or appointed board, committee, department or office that is not in good standing (example; taxes not paid up to date) have their voting rights withdrawn from said board, committee, department, or office until such time as the defect is corrected.

It was also suggested that the following language be included to the Town Administrator Section 1024. "The Town Administrator shall be bound by the provisions of the Town's ethics policies and ordinances, and shall at all times conduct themself in a professional and nonpartisan manner.

Rebecca Einsiedel

From: Sent: To: Subject: Matthew Reed Monday, August 5, 2024 1:21 PM Rebecca Einsiedel FWD: Just Cause

Becky,

Can you forward Dory's comments to the Charter Rev Comm, please?

MATTHEW REED | Town Administrator Town of Ellington 55 Main Street | Ellington, CT 06029 (860)375-5390

From: Famiglietti, Dory <DFamiglietti@KKC-law.com> Sent: Monday, August 5, 2024 12:20 To: Matthew Reed <mreed@ellington-ct.gov> Subject: FW: AT-WILL EMPLOYMENT

In response to the Charter Revision Commission's question regarding "just cause" removal of the Town Administrator, I offer the following:

- 1. Most towns in CT that have a Town Administrator do not provide for "just cause" removal. Instead, the TA, like other appointed positions, serve at the pleasure of the Board of Selectmen or Town Council.
- 2. In CT, absent an explicit contractual or statutory protection, employees are terminable at will. No cause need be shown.
- 3. There are exceptions to termination at will if the termination will violate the state's public policy (ex: discriminatory action; termination in violation of the whistleblower statute, etc) or if there is an implied contract for employment.
- 4. If the Charter includes the "just cause" provision, then that would generally prevent termination unless the BOS establishes that the TA failed to perform his or her duties to the satisfaction of the BOS (hence, the right to a public hearing).
- 5. If there is no standard for removal in the Charter, then the TA would serve "at will" or at the BOS's pleasure.

I've attached an OLR Research Report on the topic for your reference. If you have any other questions, please let me know.

Dory

From: Famiglietti, Dory <DFamiglietti@KKC-law.com> Sent: Monday, August 5, 2024 12:11 PM To: Famiglietti, Dory <DFamiglietti@KKC-law.com> Subject: Note+to+self+--+AT-WILL EMPLOYMENT

AT-WILL EMPLOYMENT https://www.cga.ct.gov/2001/rpt/2001-R-0612.htm To the Ellington Charter Commission:

August 7, 2024 Meeting

Proposal During Audience of Citizens

I stated at the meeting my concern that the Ellington Town Charter remains a document that is not gender neutral. The Charter went into effect in 1975 and fifty years later remains a document that remains gender specific.

I propose that the document can be easily reworded to correct this overdue fact. I went through the Charter identifying the all the places where the Charter is currently not gender neutral. The most common term was Board of Selectman. The name could be altered to Board of Selectpersons, or Board of Delegates, or Town Council as suggestions.

Elsewhere," he or she" could be restated as any of the following, "they or them" or "their" when possessive. The phrase "said person (s)" is another possibility.

The Charter of Ellington needs to reflect the time we live in.

In 1789 the "Framers of our Constitution," all white men, were able to write a gender-neutral document for an entire nation. Our town Charter has been neglected in this task.

Wil Duchesneau

200 West Road

REVISED

CHARTER FOR THE TOWN OF ELLINGTON



Effective November 4, 1975

Amended November 6, 1979 Effective January 7, 1980

Amended November 4, 1986 Effective November 3, 1987

Amended November 3, 1992 Effective November 2, 1993

Amended November 5, 2002 Effective January 1, 2003

Amended November 6, 2007 Effective January 1, 2008

Amended November 7, 2017 Effective January 1, 2018

Amended November 6, 2018 Effective January 1, 2019

Amended November 5, 2024 Effective January 1, 2025

REVISED CHARTER OF THE TOWN OF ELLINGTON

Table of Contents

CHAPTER I. INCORPORATION AND GENERAL POWERS

SECTION 101.	INCORPORATION	1
SECTION 102.	RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS	1
SECTION 103.	GENERAL GRANT OF POWERS	1

CHAPTER II. ELECTIONS

SECTION 201.	GENERAL	2
SECTION 202.	ELIGIBILITY	2
SECTION 203.	MINORITY REPRESENTATION	2
SECTION 204.	BREAKING A TIE	2
SECTION 205.	VACANCIES—ELECTIVE OFFICES	2
SECTION 206.	BOARD OF ADMISSION OF ELECTORS	3
SECTION 207.	VOTING DISTRICTS	3

CHAPTER III. ELECTED OFFICERS

CHAPTER IV. BOARD OF EDUCATION

SECTION 401. GENERAL...... 5

CHAPTER V. LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

SECTION 501. GENERAL...... 6

CHAPTER VI. BOARD OF SELECTMEN

SECTION 601.	GENERAL	7
SECTION 602.	PRESIDING OFFICER AND ORGANIZATION	7
SECTION 603.	PROCEDURE	7
SECTION 604.	GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES	8
SECTION 605.	PUBLIC HEARING ON AND PUBLICATION OF ORDINANCES	8
SECTION 606.	EMERGENCY ORDINANCES	9
SECTION 607.	INVESTIGATION	9
SECTION 608.	RELATIONS TO ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES	9

CHAPTER VII. THE TOWN MEETING

SECTION 701.	GENERAL	10
SECTION 702.	ANNUAL TOWN BUDGET MEETING	10
SECTION 703.	SPECIAL TOWN MEETING	10
SECTION 704.	POWER OF INITIATIVE—TOWN MEETING ACTIONS	11

#1

CHAPTER VIII. THE FIRST SELECTMAN

SECTION 801.	GENERAL	13
SECTION 802.	DUTIES	13
SECTION 803.	APPOINTMENTS AND TERMS	13
SECTION 804.	DEPUTY FIRST SELECTMAN	14

CHAPTER IX. APPOINTED BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

SECTION 901.		15
SECTION 902.	APPOINTMENT AND ELIGIBILITY	15
SECTION 903.		
SECTION 904.	PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION	16
SECTION 905.	CONSERVATION COMMISSION	16
SECTION 906.	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION	
SECTION 907.	HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION	16
SECTION 908.	PUBLIC SAFETY COMMISSION	17
SECTION 909.	PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION (Repealed 11/4/86)	
SECTION 910.	INSURANCE ADVISORY BOARD	
SECTION 911.	HOUSING AUTHORITY	17
SECTION 912.	WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY	17
SECTION 913.		
SECTION 914.		
SECTION 915.	JURY COMMITTEE (Repealed 11/5/02)	
SECTION 916.	FOREST & OPEN SPACE COMMISSION (Repealed 11/5/02)	
SECTION 917.	BOARD OF ASSESSMENT APPEAL	
SECTION 918.		
SECTION 919.		
SECTION 920.	ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS ALTERNATES	
SECTION 921.		19
SECTION 922.		19
SECTION 923.	SENIOR CENTER ENDOWMENT FUND COMMITTEE (Repealed 11/7/17))19
SECTION 924.		19
SECTION 925.		20
SECTION 926.	SHARED SERVICES COMMISSION	20
SECTION 927.	DESIGN REVIEW BOARD	20

CHAPTER X. ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS	
SECTION 1001. OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS	21
SECTION 1002. APPOINTMENT AND ELIGIBILITY	
SECTION 1003. VACANCIES—ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES	21
SECTION 1004. TOWN CLERK	21
SECTION 1005. FINANCE OFFICER	21
SECTION 1006. TAX COLLECTOR	22
SECTION 1007. ASSESSOR	23
SECTION 1008. EMERGENCY AND RISK MANAGER	23
SECTION 1009. WELFARE OFFICER (Repealed 11/5/02)	
SECTION 1010. DEPT OF PUBLIC WORKS/DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WO	

#3 #4

#5

SECTION 1011. BUILDING OFFICIAL	
SECTION 1012. TOWN ENGINEER	24
SECTION 1013. TOWN ATTORNEY	24
SECTION 1014. CONSTABLES	24
SECTION 1015. DIRECTOR OF HEALTH	24
SECTION 1016. DIRECTOR OF RECREATION	25
SECTION 1017. FIRE MARSHAL	25
SECTION 1018. FIRE DEPARTMENT (Repealed 11/6/07)	25
SECTION 1019. ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER	
SECTION 1020. AMBULANCE SERVICE (Repealed 11/6/07)	25
SECTION 1021. DIRECTOR OF HUMAN SERVICES	25
SECTION 1022. TOWN PLANNER	25
SECTION 1023. EMERGENCY SERVICES	26
SECTION 1024, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR	

CHAPTER XI. FINANCE AND TAXATION

SECTION 1101. FISCAL YEAR	27
SECTION 1102. BUDGET PREPARATION	27
SECTION 1103. DUTIES OF THE FINANCE OFFICER ON THE BUDGET	27
SECTION 1104. DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF FINANCE ON THE BUDGET	27
SECTION 1105. DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF FINANCE	28
SECTION 1106. DUTIES OF THE TOWN MEETING ON THE BUDGET	29
SECTION 1107. EXECUTION OF THE BUDGET	29
SECTION 1108. EMERGENCY APPROPRIATIONS	30
SECTION 1109. EXPENDITURES AND ACCOUNTING	30
SECTION 1110. BORROWING	31
SECTION 1111. PURCHASING	31

CHAPTER XII. TOWN EMPLOYEES

SECTION 1201. GENERAL	32
SECTION 1202. THE CLASSIFIED SERVICE	32
SECTION 1203. JOB CLASSIFICATION	32
SECTION 1204. PERSONNEL RULES	32
SECTION 1205. SALARIES	33
SECTION 1206. RETIREMENT	33
SECTION 1207. OFFICIAL BONDS	33

CHAPTER XIII. TRANSITION AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISION

SECTION 1301. TRANSFER OF POWERS	34
SECTION 1303. CONFLICT OF INTEREST SECTION 1304. TRANSFER OF RECORDS AND PROPERTY SECTION 1305. CONTINUATION OF APPROPRIATION AND TOWN FUNDS	34
SECTION 1306. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	35
SECTION 1308. REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF CHARTER SECTION 1309. SAVING CLAUSE	35 35
SECTION 1310. USAGE SECTION 1311. EFFECTIVE DATE	

#6

TOWN OF ELLINGTON CHARTER

CHAPTER I. INCORPORATION AND GENERAL POWERS

SECTION 101. INCORPORATION

All the inhabitants dwelling within the territorial limits of the Town of Ellington, as heretofore constituted, shall continue to be a body politic and corporate under the name of "The Town of Ellington," hereinafter called "the town," and as such shall have perpetual succession and may hold and exercise all powers and privileges heretofore exercised by said town and not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, the additional powers and privileges herein conferred and all powers and privileges conferred upon towns under the general laws of the State of Connecticut.

SECTION 102. RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS

All property, both real and personal, all rights of action and rights of every description and all securities and liens in said town as of the effective date of the Charter are continued. Nothing herein shall be construed to affect the rights of said town to collect any assessment, charge, debt, or lien. The town shall continue to be liable for its debts and obligations. If any contract has been entered into by said town prior to the effective date of this Charter, or any bond or undertaking has been given by or in favor of said town, which contains provisions that the same may be enforced by any office or agency therein named which is hereby abolished or superseded by the creation herein of a new commission, board or office to which are granted similar powers and jurisdiction, such contracts, bonds or undertakings shall continue in full force and effect. The powers conferred and the duties imposed with reference to the same upon any such office or agency shall, except as otherwise provided in this Charter, thereafter be exercised and discharged by the chief executive officer of said town.

SECTION 103. GENERAL GRANT OF POWERS

In addition to all powers granted to towns under the Constitution and General Statutes of the State of Connecticut, or which may hereafter be conferred, the town shall have all powers specifically granted by this Charter and all powers fairly implied in or incident to the powers expressly granted, all powers conferred by Section 7-194 of the General Statutes, as amended, and by special acts of the General Assembly, not inconsistent with this Charter, and all other powers incident to the management of the property, government, and affairs of the town, including the power to enter into contracts with the United States Government or any branch thereof, or any other body politic or corporate not expressly forbidden by the Constitution and General Statutes of the State of Connecticut. The enumeration of particular powers in this and any other chapter of this Charter shall not be construed as limiting this general grant of power but shall be considered as an addition thereto.

CHAPTER II. ELECTIONS

SECTION 201. GENERAL

- (a) Nomination and election of federal and state officers and of such elected town officers, boards, and commissions as are provided for in this Charter shall be conducted, and the Registrars of Voters shall prepare lists of electors qualified to vote therefore, in the manner prescribed in the Constitution and the General Statutes of the State of Connecticut.
- (b) A meeting of the electors of the Town of Ellington for the election of municipal officers shall be held on the 8th day of November 1977 and biennially thereafter on the first Tuesday after the first Monday of November.

SECTION 202. ELIGIBILITY

No person shall be eligible for election to any town office who is not at the time of his or her election an elector of said town, as defined by Section 9-1 of the General Statutes, as amended, and any person ceasing to be an elector of said town shall thereupon cease to hold elective office in the town.

SECTION 203. MINORITY REPRESENTATION

Minority representation on any elective board, commission, committee or similar body of the town, shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-167a of the General Statutes, as amended.

SECTION 204. BREAKING A TIE

When any regular or special municipal election, primary election, or referendum conducted pursuant to the provisions of this Charter results in a tie, an adjourned election shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-332 of the General Statutes, as amended, to determine who shall be elected, or in the case of a question at referendum whether it shall be accepted or rejected. This provision shall not apply to questions at referendum which, under the provisions of this Charter or of the General Statutes, require more than a simple majority of electors voting in favor of such questions.

SECTION 205. VACANCIES--ELECTIVE OFFICES

- (a) Unless otherwise provided by law, any vacancy, in any elective town office, including the Board of Education, but excluding the First Selectman, shall be filled within thirty (30) days of such vacancy by appointment of the Board of Selectmen, to serve for the unexpired portion of the term of the elective office so filled. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/18]
- (b) If a vacancy shall occur in the office of First Selectman, the duly elected Deputy First Selectman shall serve as acting First Selectman, receiving appropriate compensation. The Board of Selectmen will call for a special election to be held within sixty (60) days of this vacancy. Should said vacancy occur less than one hundred and sixty-one (161) days before the end of the term, the Deputy First Selectman shall complete the term, and no special election will be held. The ensuing vacancy on the Board of Selectmen shall be filled pursuant to subsection (a) of this section.
- (c) Any such vacancy, except for the First Selectman, shall be filled by the appointment of a member of the same political party as the person vacating the office in the event said person

was affiliated with or endorsed by a political party, or by the appointment of an unaffiliated member if the office is vacated by an unaffiliated member. (Section 9-167a [Section g] of General Statutes, as amended.)

(d)

SECTION 206. BOARD OF ADMISSION OF ELECTORS

The Town Clerk, or any Assistants, and the Registrars of Voters, or any Deputies, shall constitute the Board of Admission of Electors in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-15a of the General Statutes, as amended.

SECTION 207. VOTING DISTRICTS

Unless otherwise established by ordinance, there shall be two (2) voting districts in the town.

CHAPTER III. ELECTED OFFICERS

SECTION 301. GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES

Except as otherwise provided by this Charter, all elected town officers, elected boards, and commissions, including the Board of Education shall have only the powers and duties as provided by the General Statutes.

SECTION 302. ELECTION AND TERMS OF OFFICE: TOWN ELECTION

At a meeting of the electors of the Town of Ellington to be held on the third day of November, 1987, and biennially on the first Tuesday after the first Monday of November thereafter, there shall be elected the following officers:

- (a) A First Selectman. The votes cast for the unsuccessful candidate for First Selectman shall not be counted for him or her as a member of the Board of Selectmen;
- (b) Six (6) members of the Board of Selectmen, in accordance with the applicable provisions of Sections 7-193 and 9-188 of the General Statutes, as amended;
- (c) Five (5) members of the Board of Education, in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-204 of the General Statutes, as amended, to serve for a term of four (4) years;
- (d) Three (3) members of the Library Board of Trustees, each of whom shall serve for a term of four (4) years, and who shall succeed those members of said board whose terms then expire, so that the Library Board of Trustees shall continue to consist of six (6) members, each of whom shall be elected for a term of four (4) years; [AMENDED 11/5/02, 11/6/07, 11/7/17]
- (e) Three (3) members of the Board of Finance, each of whom shall serve for terms of four (4) years and who shall succeed those members of said board whose terms then expire so that the Board of Finance shall continue to consist of six (6) members, each of whom shall be elected for a term of four (4) years;
- (f) The Planning & Zoning Commission shall consist of seven (7) members; said members shall be elected to staggered terms of four (4) years; [AMENDED 11/6/07]
- (g) The Zoning Board of Appeals shall consist of five (5) members; said members shall be elected to staggered terms of four (4) years; said members shall be prohibited from concurrently serving on the Planning and Zoning Commission. [AMENDED 11/6/07; 11/7/17]

That number of persons sufficient to fill the offices to be elected who have the highest number of votes shall be elected subject to Section 203 of this Charter. The terms of office of all elected town officers, members of the town boards, and commissions, shall commence on the first Monday in December following their election; provided, however, that the terms of office of members of the Board of Education shall commence on the date of their election.

SECTION 303. ELECTION AND TERMS OF OFFICE: STATE ELECTIONS

At the state election to be held on the seventh day of November, 1978, and quadrennially on the first Tuesday after the first Monday of November thereafter, there shall be elected the following officers to serve for terms of four (4) years each:

- (a) Two (2) Registrars of Voters, in accordance with Section 9-189a and 9-190 of the General Statutes, as amended, and;
- (b) A Judge of Probate for the probate district of Ellington, in accordance with Article 5, Section 4 of the Constitution of the State of Connecticut.

CHAPTER IV. BOARD OF EDUCATION

SECTION 401. GENERAL

The Board of Education shall consist of ten (10) members who shall be elected and hold office as provided in Chapter III of this Charter. The Board of Education shall perform such duties and have such powers as are or may be imposed or vested by the General Statutes upon boards of education in the several towns, and shall perform all acts required of said boards by the town or necessary to carry into effect the powers and duties imposed upon said board by law.

CHAPTER V. LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES

SECTION 501. GENERAL

The Library Board of Trustees, elected as provided in Chapter III of this Charter, shall be responsible for the administration and use of Hall Memorial Library and will have all the powers and duties pursuant to State Statute 11-33 and 11-34. Notwithstanding any provision in this Charter and the State Statutes to the contrary, the Department of Public Works shall have exclusive control of the care, maintenance and repair of the library building and physical facilities and the library grounds. [ADDED 11/6/18]

CHAPTER VI. BOARD OF SELECTMEN

SECTION 601. GENERAL

There shall be a Board of Selectmen consisting of the First Selectman and six (6) others, hereinafter referred to as the Board of Selectmen, who shall be elected at each biennial election of the town. With the exception of the First Selectman, the Board of Selectmen shall serve without compensation except for reimbursement of actual expenses incurred in the performance of official duties, as authorized by said Board of Selectmen. The First Selectman may appoint members of the Board of Selectmen to serve as ex-officio, non-voting members of the several regular and special town boards, commissions, and agencies. Notification of any such appointment shall be filed in writing with any such board, commission or agency. Said ex-officio members shall be given reasonable notice to all meetings of the several regular and special town boards, commissions, and agencies. No member of the Board of Selectmen, including the First Selectman, during the term of office for which elected and for one (1) year thereafter, shall be eligible for appointment to any salaried office or position of profit with the town.

SECTION 602. PRESIDING OFFICER AND ORGANIZATION

With the First Selectman presiding, the Board of Selectmen shall meet on the first Monday in December 1993 and biennially thereafter on the first Monday in December for purposes of organization. At said organizational meeting the Board of Selectmen shall elect, from among their own members, a Deputy First Selectman who shall serve as acting First Selectman in accordance with the provisions of Section 803 of this Charter. The First Selectman shall preside over all meetings of the Board of Selectmen and perform such other duties consistent with his or her office as may be imposed by the Board of Selectmen. The Board of Selectmen may, at least once a year, call a general meeting of the chairmen of all town boards, agencies, commissions, and all other town officers. The purpose of these meetings shall be to coordinate the activities of all town officers, boards, agencies and commissions. At these meetings the chairmen of the various boards, agencies, and commissions, and town officers shall present a report of the activities of their board, agency, commission, or office. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 603. PROCEDURE

At the first meeting of the Board of Selectmen following each biennial town election said Board of Selectmen shall fix the time and place of their regular meetings and provide a method for calling of special meetings, all such meetings to be held in accordance with the provisions of Section 1-21 of the General Statutes, as amended. The Board of Selectmen shall, by resolution, determine its own rules of procedure. All meetings of the Board of Selectmen for the transaction of business shall be open to the public and shall afford to the electors of the town an opportunity to address to the Board of Selectmen with suggestions, petitions, and complaints. The votes of all meetings shall be recorded as prescribed by Section 1-21 of the General Statutes, as amended. Four (4) members of the Board of Selectmen shall constitute a quorum. Emergency ordinances, resolutions, or votes shall be adopted by affirmative vote of a majority of those members present. The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a qualified person who is not a member of the Board of Selectmen to serve as secretary of said board. Said secretary shall keep a public record of all proceedings of the Board of Selectmen, including all roll call votes, which shall be the official record of its proceedings. The record so kept shall be authenticated for each meeting by the signature of either the First Selectman or the Deputy First Selectman and said public record shall be kept in the office of the Board of Selectmen. The Board of Selectmen shall appoint an Auditing Committee consisting of not less than three (3) of their members whose duty it shall be to oversee and review all claims and charges against the town except those incurred by the Board of Education.

Recommendation #1

SECTION 604. GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Charter, the Board of Selectmen shall have the powers and duties conferred by the Constitution and general laws of the state. The Board of Selectmen may recommend to the town meeting the creation, consolidation, or abolition of boards, commissions, departments, and offices and may recommend to a special town meeting the adoption of a proposed ordinance or the repeal of an existing ordinance. The Board of Selectmen may appoint, by resolution, special and temporary boards, commissions, and committees as it may deem necessary and appropriate; said special and temporary boards, commissions and committees shall terminate not later than one (1) year after their creation. Except as otherwise provided in this Charter, the Board of Selectmen may contract for services (Section 7-194 of the General Statutes, as amended). Said Board of Selectmen may regulate the internal operation of boards, commissions, and offices, which it fills by appointment, provided such regulatory resolutions are in accordance with the state statutes, including prescribing the manner in which minutes are filed, and notices of meetings and agendas are published. Said Board of Selectmen may fix the charges to be made for services rendered by the town. Said Board of Selectmen shall make all rules and regulations relating to purchasing and bidding procedures. Said Board of Selectmen shall present to the Board of Finance a program concerning municipal improvements of proposed capital projects for the ensuing fiscal year and for five (5) fiscal years thereafter. Estimates of the costs of such projects shall be submitted to the Board of Selectmen by each department, office, and agency annually by December 1, in the manner prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. No later than the last Tuesday in February in each year the Board of Selectmen shall recommend at a Board of Finance Meeting those projects to be undertaken during the ensuing fiscal year and a method of financing the same. The Board of Selectmen shall have the authority to accept, on behalf of the town, deeds conveying to the town interests in real estate for which the town pays consideration less than forty thousand dollars (\$40,000), deeds for roads which have been approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission as part of a subdivision plan, and may accept and grant deeds for the purpose of establishing accurate road boundary lines or for the realignment of existing town roads. The Board of Selectmen shall determine and set all policies of the operation of the town not specifically granted to another board or commission by statute or this Charter and shall develop and shall annually review and modify as needed, goals to be accomplished over the next five (5) years. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

SECTION 605. PUBLIC HEARING ON AND PUBLICATION OF ORDINANCES

Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Charter, no ordinance shall be acted upon by the Board of Selectmen pursuant to the provisions of this chapter, or by the town meeting pursuant to the provisions of Chapter VII of this Charter, until and unless one public hearing on such ordinance shall have been held by said Board of Selectmen. Notice of such public hearing shall be given at least seven (7) days in advance by publication in a newspaper having general circulation in said town and by posting a notice in a public place. Copies of such proposed ordinance shall be made available for public inspection at the Town Clerk's office at least seven (7) days in advance of said public hearing. If substantive changes, as determined by the Town Attorney, are made in any such proposed ordinance subsequent to the public hearing required under the provisions of this section, a second public hearing shall be held on such proposed ordinance prior to final action by the town meeting. Every ordinance, after passage, shall be filed with the Town Clerk, and recorded, compiled, and published by him or her as required by law. Within ten (10) days after final passage the Town Clerk shall publish a legal notice in a newspaper, having general circulation within the town, announcing that the ordinance passed and that a copy of the full text is on file in the Town Clerk's office. Each ordinance, unless it shall specify a later date, shall become effective on the twenty-first day after such publication following its passage. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 606. EMERGENCY ORDINANCES

For the purpose of meeting a public emergency threatening the lives, health, or property of persons, the Board of Selectmen may enact emergency ordinances stating the facts constituting such public emergency which ordinances shall become effective immediately; and such ordinances shall be promulgated forthwith. No public hearing or notice of public hearing shall be required for any public emergency ordinance. Every such emergency ordinance, including any amendments thereto, shall automatically stand repealed at the termination of the sixty-first (61st) day following final passage of said ordinance, provided, however, that if action has been initiated on the same subject matter providing for a permanent ordinance under Section 605 of this chapter prior to such sixty-first (61st) day, then such emergency ordinance shall remain in full force and effect until final action is taken on said permanent ordinance.

SECTION 607. INVESTIGATION

The Board of Selectmen shall, by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the members present, have the power to investigate any and all offices, boards, commissions, and agencies of the town and for such purposes shall have the power to call witnesses to appear before said board to testify and to furnish documentation on any matter under investigation.

SECTION 608. RELATIONS TO ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES

No member of the Board of Selectmen, except the First Selectman, shall give orders, either publicly or privately, to any administrative officer or employee as defined by Sections 803 and 1001 of this Charter, except that a properly constituted meeting of the Board of Selectmen may call before it any employee or officer for the purpose of information or investigation.

CHAPTER VII. THE TOWN MEETING

SECTION 701. GENERAL

The town meeting shall have authority for final approval of those actions of the town hereinafter enumerated, and when considering such actions said meeting shall be deemed to be the legislative body of the town. All persons deemed to be eligible to vote in town meetings as prescribed in Section 7-6 of the General Statutes, as amended, shall be eligible to vote in town meetings called pursuant to Section 702, 703 and 704 of this chapter and shall be eligible to vote in special referenda called pursuant to Section 705 of this chapter.

SECTION 702. ANNUAL TOWN BUDGET MEETING

The annual town budget meeting for the consideration of the budget shall be convened in accordance with the provisions of Section 1106 of this Charter and shall be held on the second Tuesday of May at such hour and at such place as the Board of Selectmen shall determine, and no other town agency, board, or commission shall meet on said day. The Board of Selectmen shall request the presence at such meeting of a representative of each board, agency, or commission submitting a budget request. If the vote on the annual town budget is adjourned to a referendum, all further votes of the annual town budget shall be by referendum to be held two (2) weeks after the town meeting is adjourned and every other week thereafter until final approval is given. [AMENDED 11/05/02; 11/6/07; 11/6/18]

SECTION 703. SPECIAL TOWN MEETINGS

Special town meetings shall be called by the Board of Selectmen for consideration of the following actions:

- (a) The issuance of bonds and all other forms of financing, the term of which is in excess of one (1) year;
- (b) Any appropriation supplemental to those provided in the annual budget which increases total supplemental appropriations in the then current fiscal year to an aggregate amount in excess of one-half (1/2) of one (1) percent of the total annual budget;
- (c) Real estate purchases by the town for a price in excess of forty thousand dollars (\$40,000);
- (d) Sale of any town owned real property in excess of forty thousand dollars (\$40,000);
- (e) The creation, consolidation or abolition of any permanent board, commission, department, or agency not otherwise provided for in this Charter;
- (f) Real estate leases and/or lease options to which the town is a party which involve a term in excess of one (1) year;
- (g) Proposals for municipal improvements disapproved by the town planning commission pursuant to the provisions of Section 8-24 of the General Statutes, as amended;
- (h) Such other matters or proposals as may be required by the provisions of this Charter, or as the Board of Selectmen, in their discretion, shall deem to be of sufficient importance to be submitted to a special town meeting, including recommendations by the Board of Selectmen for the adoption or repeal of any ordinances;
- (i) Any appropriation from the fund authorized for capital and non-recurring expenses as set forth in Section 1105 of this Charter not included in the annual town budget;
- (j) Purchases that exceed one million dollars (\$1,000,000) require a vote by referendum. [Amended 11/6/07]

SECTION 704. POWER OF INITIATIVE -- TOWN MEETING ACTIONS

The electors of the town shall have the power to (1) propose ordinances; (2) propose the repeal of existing ordinances, and/or; (3) propose town meeting actions on those matters enumerated in Section 703 of this chapter; all in the following manner:

- (a) A petition may be filed by any elector of the town with the Town Clerk and except as otherwise provided herein, such petition shall conform to the requirements of Sections 7-9 and 7-9a of the General Statutes, as amended;
- (b) Said petition shall contain the full text of the proposal and/or ordinance and shall be signed in ink or indelible pencil by qualified electors of the town equal in number to at least five (5) percent of the total electors of the town as determined from the latest official lists of the Registrars of Voters;
- (c) Said petition shall be accompanied by affidavits signed and sworn to by each circulator as provided in said Section 7-9;
- (d) The Town Clerk shall within ten (10) days after receipt of the last page of said petition, determine whether the petition and affidavits are sufficient as prescribed by law and if so, certify said petition to the Board of Selectmen;
- (e) Within thirty (30) days of receipt of said petition, so certified, the Board of Selectmen shall hold a public hearing thereon in accordance with Section 605 of this Charter;
- (f) Within thirty (30) days of said public hearing the Board of Selectmen shall call a special town meeting to take action on said petition;
- (g) At said special town meeting a vote of majority of those electors voting thereat shall be necessary to approve such petition.

SECTION 705. POWER TO OVERRULE -- TOWN MEETING ACTIONS

All actions, including a negative action, of any town meeting shall be subject to overrule by a special town referendum in the following manner:

- (a) If, within ten (10) days after such action of the town meeting, a petition conforming to the requirements of Section 7-9 and 7-9a of the General Statutes, as amended, and signed in ink or indelible pencil by qualified electors of the town equal in number to at least five (5) percent of the total electors of the town as determined from the latest official lists of the Registrars of Voters, is filed with the Town Clerk requesting its reference to the town voters at a special referendum, the effective date of such action, if an affirmative action, shall be suspended;
- (b) Said petition shall be accompanied by affidavits signed and sworn to by each circulator as provided in said Section 7-9;
- (c) The Town Clerk shall within ten (10) days after receipt of the last page of said petition determine whether the petition and affidavits are sufficient as prescribed by law and if so, certify said petition to the Board of Selectmen;
- (d) Within fifteen (15) days of receipt of said petition, so certified, the Board of Selectmen shall fix the time and place of said special referendum which shall be held not less than twenty (20) nor more than forty-five (45) days after the certification of said petition and notice thereof shall be given at least five (5) days in advance by publication in a newspaper having general circulation in the town and by posting a notice in a public place. [AMENDED 11/6/18]

Any action so referred shall take effect upon the conclusion of such referendum unless a majority of those persons voting thereon, such majority being equal to at least fifteen (15) percent of the

qualified electors of the town, as determined from the latest official lists of the Registrars of Voters, shall have voted in favor of overruling such action. To the extent permitted by law, the aforementioned provisions are intended to supersede the applicable portions of Section 7-7 of the General Statutes, as amended.

SECTION 706. PROCEDURE

All town meetings shall be called in accordance with Section 7-3 of the General Statutes, as amended, by resolution of the Board of Selectmen fixing the time and place of said meeting, notice of which shall be given at least five (5) days in advance by publication in a newspaper, having general circulation in said town, and by posting a notice in a public place. All town meetings shall be called to order by the First Selectman or his or her representative. A Moderator shall be elected and all business shall be conducted in the manner now or hereafter provided by Chapter 90 of the General Statutes, as amended, except as otherwise provided in this Charter. The Town Clerk shall serve as clerk of all town meetings but in his or her absence an Acting Town Clerk may be designated by the Moderator. Any town meeting may be recessed from time to time as the interests of the town may require and the Moderator may entertain a motion to recess such meeting. Town Meeting may be adjourned to a referendum as provided by section 7-7 of the General Statutes, as amended, if previously warned.

CHAPTER VIII. THE FIRST SELECTMAN

SECTION 801. GENERAL

Recommendation #2

At each biennial town election, a First Selectman shall be chosen by the electors of the town as provided in Chapter III of this Charter. The First Selectman shall be the chief executive officer of the town and shall receive such compensation as shall be recommended by the Board of Selectmen and approved in the annual budget. Said First Selectman shall be a full voting and participating member of the Board of Selectmen and shall preside, when present, at meetings of said board. The First Selectman, or another Selectman designated by the First Selectman shall be an ex-officio member of all other town boards, commissions, and agencies and shall receive such advance notification of any such meeting as is given to the members of said bodies. He or she shall have the full right of participation in discussions but shall not have the right to vote.

SECTION 802. DUTIES

The First Selectman shall have all the powers, duties and responsibilities conferred upon that office by law, which are not inconsistent with this Charter. The First Selectman shall have all the powers necessary or incidental to the discharge of the First Selectman's duties and responsibilities as set forth in the town's Position Description 109. The First Selectman, as the chief elected official, may represent the town at local, regional or statewide meetings, events or various committees or task forces.

The First Selectman, under the general policy direction of the Board of Selectmen, shall be responsible for:

- a. Providing guidance to the Town Administrator in the coordination and administration of the agencies of the town agencies and departments, except those functions expressly reserved or delegated to such agencies by Connecticut General Statutes.
- b. The implementation of ordinances, resolutions, policies, and other actions voted by the Board of Selectmen, or at Town Meeting.
- c. The continuous review of current and future needs of the Town. The First Selectman may require reports and information to be submitted by the Town Administrator, or agencies reporting to the administrator.
- d. Preside over the meetings of the Board of Selectmen, when present, and prepare the agenda in conjunction with the Town Administrator.

The First Selectman shall be directly responsible to the Board of Selectmen for the administration of all departments, agencies, and officers in charge of persons or boards appointed by him or her and shall supervise and direct the same, and shall serve as Chief of Police until such time as the Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Chief of Police. He or she shall see that all laws and ordinances governing the town are faithfully executed. He or she shall make periodic reports to the Board of Selectmen on the conditions and affairs of the town. The First Selectman shall recommend to the Board of Selectmen such measures as he or she may deem necessary or expedient and shall keep the Board of Selectmen fully advised as to the financial condition of the town; and shall exercise such other powers and duties as may be authorized by ordinance and resolution of the Board of Selectmen not inconsistent with this Charter. The First Selectman shall have all the powers, duties and responsibilities conferred or imposed on that office and on the chief executive officers by the General Statutes, as amended, or by Special Act except insofar as the same are inconsistent with the provisions of the Charter. The First Selectman may, with the approval of the Board of Selectmen and subject to such other limitations as are contained in this Charter and in the General Statutes, enter into contracts or agreements with the United States Government or any agency thereof, the State of Connecticut or any agency or political subdivision

Charter for the Town of Ellington

thereof, any person, or any other body politic or corporate. The Board of Selectmen shall not diminish by ordinance, vote, or otherwise the powers and duties imposed on him or her by said board under the provisions of this section.

SECTION 803. APPOINTMENTS AND TERMS

The First Selectman shall appoint and may remove, each such action with the approval of a majority of the entire Board of Selectmen, and in accordance with such provisions of the General Statutes as may apply to said appointments and removals, such administrative officers as are assigned to the Board of Selectmen for appointment by the several provisions of this Charter, and such other assistants or employees as may be required, subject to such rules and regulations concerning town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen pursuant to the provisions of Chapter XII of this Charter. The terms of all such administrative officers hereinafter named, except appointees serving indefinite terms, shall terminate on the same day as the term of the First Selectman provided such appointees shall continue to serve until their successors are appointed and qualified. The First Selectman may, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen, otherwise qualified to perform such duties.

SECTION 804. DEPUTY FIRST SELECTMAN

The Deputy First Selectman shall serve as Acting First Selectman in the event of the temporary absence or temporary disability of the First Selectman. The Deputy First Selectman as Acting First Selectman shall have all the powers of the First Selectman. In the event the First Selectman is unable to serve for reasons of medical disability as determined by the remaining members of the Board of Selectmen, the Deputy First Selectman shall serve and in any such circumstance the Deputy First Selectman shall have all the powers of the First Selectman. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

CHAPTER IX. APPOINTED BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

SECTION 901. GENERAL

There shall be the following regular town boards and commissions appointed by the Board of Selectmen:

Board of Assessment Appeal **Building Code Board of Appeals Conservation Commission** Cultural Arts Commission **Design Review Board** Economic Development Commission **Ethics Commission** Flood and Erosion Control Board Housing Authority Human Services Commission Inland Wetlands Agency **Insurance Advisory Board** Parks and Recreation Commission Permanent Building Committee Public Safety Commission Shared Services Commission Water Pollution Control Authority

Such permanent boards and commissions as may be created by the town meeting pursuant to Section 703 of this Charter, the members of which are by said vote to be appointed by the Board of Selectmen; and such special boards and commissions as may from time to time be created by the Board of Selectmen, in accordance with the provisions of Section 604 of this Charter. All members of such boards and commissions shall serve without compensation, except for the reimbursement of necessary expenses, as authorized by the Board of Selectmen, or as otherwise provided by law, and until their successors have been appointed and qualified. Such boards and commissions shall, except as otherwise provided in this Charter, have the powers and duties as are conferred or imposed by the General Statutes upon their respective offices. Such boards and commissions as are existing at the effective date of this Charter and which are not abolished or merged with other boards and which are reestablished by the provisions herein, shall continue, and members of said boards shall fulfill their existing terms until such terms expire and new appointments are made in accordance with this Charter. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

SECTION 902. APPOINTMENT AND ELIGIBILITY

Minority representation on all town boards and commissions as are described in Section 901 of this Charter shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 9-167a of the General Statutes, as amended. All appointments shall be made by the Board of Selectmen, in the manner provided herein, as vacancies on boards and commissions are created by the expiration of a member's term of service. Each board or commission shall have all the powers and duties not inconsistent with this Charter, as are now or may hereafter be conferred or imposed upon such board or commission by the applicable provisions of the General Statutes, and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. The Board of Selectmen shall appoint, by an affirmative vote of not fewer than four (4) members of said board, such regular town boards and commissions as are described in Section 901 of this Charter. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

Alternate members shall have all the powers and duties not inconsistent with this Charter, as are now or may hereafter be conferred or imposed upon such commission by the applicable

provisions of the General Statutes, as amended. When seated in place of a regular member of a board, commission, or agency, the alternate member shall have all of the powers and duties of a regular member. When not acting in place of a regular member, the alternate may participate in research, discussion, and activities to assist and further the work of the commission but may not vote. No person shall be eligible for appointment to any regular town board or commission, except the Building Code Board of Appeals or any Ad Hoc Committee, who is not, at the time of his or her appointment, an elector of said town and any person ceasing to be an elector of said town shall thereupon forfeit his or her membership on said board or commission. Any such regular town boards and commissions newly created by the provisions of this Charter shall be appointed in accordance with this section by resolution adopted at a meeting to be held not later than the 30th day of January following the first regular town election held under the provisions of this Charter. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 903. VACANCIES -- APPOINTIVE BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS

Any vacancy on any appointive town board or commission, from whatever cause arising, shall be filled by appointment by the Board of Selectmen to such office for the unexpired portion of the term vacated. Any such vacancy shall be filled by the appointment of a member of the same political party as the person vacating the office in the event said person was affiliated with a political party. If within twelve (12) weeks after being notified of a vacancy no person has been nominated from the political party to which the resigned member belonged, the vacancy may be filled by an elector who is or is not affiliated with a political party.

SECTION 904. PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Parks and Recreation Commission consisting of nine (9) members, said members to serve for terms of four (4) years.

SECTION 905. CONSERVATION COMMISSION

The Board of Selectmen, in accordance with Section 902 of this Charter, shall appoint a Conservation Commission consisting of seven (7) members, to serve for terms of four (4) years. The Board of Selectmen shall appoint two (2) alternate members to the Conservation Commission who shall serve for terms of two (2) years. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

SECTION 906. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION

The Board of Selectmen, in accordance with Section 902 of this Charter, shall appoint an Economic Development Commission consisting of five (5) members, to serve for terms of four (4) years. The Board of Selectmen shall appoint three (3) alternate members to the Economic Development Commission who shall serve for terms of two (2) years. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

SECTION 907. HUMAN SERVICES COMMISSION

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint, in accordance with the provisions of Section 902 of this Charter, a Human Services Commission consisting of eight (8) members, said members to serve for terms of four (4) years. Such commission shall act as an advocate of the physical and mental health needs as well as the social service needs of the community and shall investigate such needs and assist both the public and private agencies in procuring health and social services for the town residents, provided that such assistance is requested. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 908. PUBLIC SAFETY COMMISSION

The Board of Selectmen, in accordance with Section 902 of this Charter, shall appoint a Public Safety Commission consisting of nine (9) members, said members to serve for terms of three (3) years. All appointments to this commission shall be made by the Board of Selectmen, in the manner provided herein, as vacancies on this board are created by the expiration of a member's term of service. Said commission shall draw lines of communication, form operational policies among the town agencies involved with public safety, and work with area towns having similar public safety problems in applying for Federal and State grants and technical assistance.

SECTION 909. PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION - REPEALED 11/4/86 [see Section 302]

SECTION 910. INSURANCE ADVISORY BOARD

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint an Insurance Advisory Board, consisting of five (5) members. All members shall be appointed for four (4) year terms, except that of those such members first appointed under the provisions of the ordinance, three (3) shall be appointed for four (4) year terms and two (2) shall be appointed for two (2) year terms. Biennially thereafter, the Board of Selectmen shall appoint, in the manner provided herein, three (3) or two (2) members, depending on the number of members whose terms then expire. Members shall have expertise in the fields of life, health, property, casualty and liability insurance. The Finance Officer shall serve as an ex-officio member of the board, and the Board of Selectmen and Board of Education shall each designate one (1) of its members to be its liaison to this board. Such liaison member shall be entitled to vote. Said board shall provide advice and assistance to the Board of Selectmen, Finance Officer, the agents of record, and town boards and commissions in the management of the town's insurance program. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 911. HOUSING AUTHORITY

The Housing Authority existing on the effective date of this Charter is hereby designated the Housing Authority of the town under this Charter. The authority shall continue to consist of five (5) members, said members to serve for terms of five (5) years. Any person holding office as a Commissioner of the Housing Authority on the effective date of this Charter shall continue to hold such office until the term for which he or she was appointed shall expire. The Board of Selectmen shall thereupon appoint a successor to each such member, such successor to serve for a term of five (5) years. Said authority shall continue to have all the powers and duties now or hereafter conferred or imposed upon such authorities by Chapter 128 of the General Statutes, as amended, and nothing in this section shall be construed as affecting the existing Housing Authority in any respect other than to grant it the status and protection of a chartered board.

SECTION 912. WATER POLLUTION CONTROL AUTHORITY

The Water Pollution Control Authority existing on the effective date of this Charter is hereby designated as the Water Pollution Control Authority of the town under this Charter. Said authority shall continue to consist of five (5) members, said members to serve for terms of four (4) years. Any person holding office as a member of said authority on the effective date of this Charter shall continue to hold such office until the term for which he or she was appointed shall expire. The Board of Selectmen shall thereupon appoint a successor to each such member, such successor to serve for a term of four (4) years. Nothing in this section shall be construed as affecting the existing Water Pollution Control Authority in any respect other than to grant it the status and protection of a chartered board. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 913. PERMANENT BUILDING COMMITTEE

- (a) The Board of Selectmen shall appoint, in accordance with Section 902 of this Charter, a Permanent Building Committee, consisting of eleven (11) members. The membership of the committee shall be made up as follows: one (1) member from the Board of Selectmen; one (1) member from the Board of Education; one (1) member from the Planning and Zoning Commission: one (1) member from the Board of Finance; and seven (7) members who do not hold an elected town office. The members from the aforementioned boards and commissions shall be appointed for two (2) year terms. All other members shall be appointed for four (4) year terms except that of those members first appointed under the provisions of this Charter, four (4) members shall be appointed for four (4) year terms and three (3) members shall be appointed for two (2) year terms. Biennially thereafter, the Board of Selectmen shall appoint, in the manner provided herein, four (4) members from the aforementioned boards and commissions and that number additional members so that the committee shall continue to consist of eleven (11) members. If any of the aforementioned boards or commissions should fail to recommend and present a member to serve on said committee within thirty (30) days after the first meeting of the Board of Selectmen, then said Board of Selectmen shall appoint from said boards and commissions without such recommendation.
- (b) The duties of this commission shall be to investigate sites for future public buildings and make recommendations as requested by the town meeting for acquisition and construction for all building projects and/or work with construction costs of over forty thousand dollars (\$40,000). The committee may investigate sites and make recommendations for acquisition and construction of building projects and/or work with construction costs of less than forty thousand (\$40,000) if requested to do so by the Board of Selectmen. The committee shall undertake such functions as: surveying sites, recommending acquisition, preparation and disposition of sites and buildings, engaging architects and engineers through quality base selection, approving plans, procuring bids and entering into contracts for construction, supervising construction, and accepting the work as authorized and delegated by the town meeting. [AMENDED 11/6/07]
- (c) The Director of Public Works shall be an ex-officio, non-voting member of the committee and shall assist the committee in planning, supervising and inspecting projects.

SECTION 914. BUILDING CODE BOARD OF APPEALS

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint, in accordance with the provisions of Section 902 of this Charter, and Section 19-402 of the General Statutes, as amended, a Building Code Board of Appeals consisting of five (5) members, said members to serve for terms of five (5) years. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 915. JURY COMMITTEE - REPEALED 11/5/02

SECTION 916. FOREST AND OPEN SPACE COMMISSION - REPEALED 11/5/02 [see Section 905]

SECTION 917. BOARD OF ASSESSMENT APPEALS

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Board of Assessment Appeals consisting of three (3) members who shall serve for terms of three (3) years from the date of their appointment. Additional members may be appointed to the Board of Assessment Appeals for any assessment year in which a revaluation becomes effective and for the assessment year following such revaluation. The Board of Selectmen shall appoint two (2) alternate members to the Board of Assessment Appeals who shall serve for terms of two (2) years and shall not be from the same political party. Such appointments shall be made by the Board of Selectmen in the manner provided herein, as vacancies on this commission are created by the expiration of a member's term of service. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

SECTION 918. CULTURAL ARTS COMMISSION

The Board of Selectmen, in accordance with Section 902 of this Charter, shall appoint a Cultural Arts Commission consisting of nine (9) members to serve for terms of four (4) years. Such appointments shall be made by the Board of Selectmen in the manner provided herein as vacancies are created at the expiration of a member's term of service. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 919. PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION -- ALTERNATES

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint two (2) alternate members to the Planning and Zoning Commission who shall serve for a term of two (2) years. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 920. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS -- ALTERNATES

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint three (3) alternate members to the Zoning Board of Appeals who shall serve for a term of two (2) years; said members shall be prohibited from concurrently serving on the Planning and Zoning Commission. [AMENDED 11/6/07; 11/7/17]

SECTION 921.CONSERVATION COMMISSION ALTERNATES-REPEALED 11/5/02 [see Section 905]

SECTION 922: INLAND WETLANDS AGENCY

The Board of Selectmen, in accordance with Section 902 of this Charter and Connecticut General Statutes Section 22a-42, shall appoint an Inland Wetlands Agency consisting of seven (7) members, to serve for terms of four (4) years and two (2) alternate members, to serve for terms of two (2) years. No member or alternate member of this agency shall serve on the Planning & Zoning Commission or the Conservation Commission. [ADDED 11/5/02; AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 923: SENIOR CENTER ENDOWMENT FUND COMMITTEE – REPEALED 11/7/17

SECTION 924. FLOOD AND EROSION CONTROL BOARD

The Board of Selectmen is designated as the Flood and Erosion Control Board. [ADDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 925. ETHICS COMMISSION.

The Board of Selectman shall appoint an Ethics Commission, in accordance with the provisions of Section 902 of this Charter, consisting of five (5) members to serve staggered terms of four (4) years. The Ethics Commission shall promote and affirm ethical behavior of the town's boards, commissions, employees, elected and appointed officials. The Ethics Commission shall draft an Ethics Code for the town for approval by the Board of Selectmen. The Ethics Commission will receive inquiries and requests for advisory opinions from town officials, employees, consultants and residents regarding possible code violations and will respond with formal procedures. The Ethics Commission will review, evaluate, resolve and adjudicate, as appropriate, ethical issues and concerns; disseminate informational and educational materials to enhance public awareness of the code; and maintain open-minded impartiality in all Ethics Commission dealings consistent with the application of precedent and rationale in its decision making. [ADDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 926. SHARED SERVICES COMMISSION

The Board of Selectman shall appoint a Shared Services Commission, in accordance with the provisions of Section 902 of this Charter, consisting of seven (7) members. Four (4) members shall be citizens, one of whom will be the chairman, who are not employees of the town or the Board of Education and shall serve staggered terms of three (3) years; one (1) member from the Board of Education, one (1) member of the Board of Finance and one (1) member from the Board of Selectmen shall each serve for two (2) year terms. The Shared Services Commission shall investigate areas where services may be shared and other town boards, commissions and employees shall cooperate with and provide information to this commission. The commission may negotiate with town agencies to effect sharing of support services (building maintenance, finance, information technology, etcetera) between the town and the Board of Education that are in the best interest of town residents by increasing efficiency and reducing costs. Recommendations for the sharing of support services will not undermine the ability or legal authority of either the town or the Board of Education to conduct their respective missions. [ADDED11/6/07]

SECTION 927. DESIGN REVIEW BOARD

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Design Review Board consisting of five (5) members, said members to serve staggered terms of four (4) years to advise the Planning & Zoning Commission regarding aesthetics and character of commercial, industrial and other significant developments projects. [ADDED 11/7/17]

CHAPTER X. ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICERS& DEPARTMENTS

SECTION 1001. OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS

There shall be the following administrative officers and departments for the town: <u>Town</u> <u>Administrator</u>; Town Clerk; Finance Officer; Tax Collector; Assessor; <u>Director of Emergency</u> <u>Management Emergency and Risk Manager</u>; Director of Public Works; Building Official; Town Engineer; Town Attorney; Constables; Director of Health; Director of Recreation; Fire Marshal; Animal Control Officer; Director of Human Services; <u>Youth Services Director</u>; <u>Senior Center</u> <u>Director</u>; and Town Planner. The Board of Selectmen may recommend to the town meeting pursuant to the provisions of Section 703 of this Charter the creation of such additional or the elimination of such existing administrative offices and departments as it from time to time may deem appropriate and necessary to the best interest of the town. All administrative officers and department heads and their deputies and assistants shall receive compensation fixed by the Board of Selectmen; provided, however, no compensation shall be based upon any fees collected by them and all such fees collected by them shall be paid to the town treasury. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 1002. APPOINTMENT AND ELIGIBILITY

Recommendation #4

Recommendation #3

Administrative officers and department heads shall be appointed in the manner hereinafter provided. Appointees of the Board of Selectmen shall be appointed and may be removed in accordance with the provisions of Section 803 1024(d) of this Charter. No officer or employee of the town shall serve on any board or commission if his or her duties on the board or commission conflict with the duties of his or her town position. Any such officer or employee elected to public office in the town shall, upon such election, forfeit the position to which he or she had been appointed. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 1003. VACANCIES -- ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES

Any vacancy in any administrative office, from whatever cause arising, shall be filled by the Board of Selectmen. Persons appointed to fill vacancies in said administrative offices shall serve for the unexpired portion of the term vacated if such office has a fixed term, or shall serve for an indefinite term in the event no fixed term is provided for such office.

SECTION 1004. TOWN CLERK

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Town Clerk who shall be qualified by training and experience and who shall serve for an indefinite term. Said Town Clerk shall have all powers and duties, not inconsistent with this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes on town clerks, and such other powers and duties as are prescribed in this Charter and as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. The Town Clerk may appoint and may remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen, and subject to such rules and regulations covering town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen pursuant to the provisions of Chapter XII of this Charter, all deputies, assistants, or employees in his or her office.

SECTION 1005. FINANCE OFFICER

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Finance Officer, who shall be chosen exclusively on the basis of technical and administrative qualifications, character, education, training, and experience, and who shall serve for an indefinite term. Said Finance Officer, shall have the following powers and duties, together with such other powers and duties as the Board of Selectmen may confer upon him or her:

- (a) The Finance Officer shall be the Town Treasurer and the agent of the town deposit fund and all other town funds, and shall have all the powers and duties, not inconsistent with this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes on town treasurers;
- (b) He or she shall be responsible for the keeping and maintaining of all accounts showing financial transactions for all departments, and agencies of the town, including the Board of Education;
- (c) He or she shall prepare financial reports and submit the same to the Board of Selectmen on a monthly basis and for such other periods as may be required by the Board of Selectmen;
- (d) He or she shall prepare cash flow analysis and shall be responsible for the investment of town funds;
- (e) He or she shall assist in the preparation of the annual budget and in the presentation of the same to the Board of Finance;
- (f) He or she shall be responsible for the monthly reconciliation of all bank accounts and shall establish procedures for the purposes of internal auditing;
- (g) He or she shall maintain records of all fixed assets of the town;
- (h) He or she shall periodically review all insurance coverage carried by the town, including the Board of Education, and shall recommend to the Board of Selectmen adjustments and improvements in such coverage;
- (i) He or she shall familiarize the Board of Selectmen with all grants and other state and federal programs available to the town or other agency or commission and shall follow the instructions of the Board of Selectmen with respect to the implementation of the same;
- (j) He or she shall purchase or cause to be purchased, subject to such rules and regulations as shall be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen, all supplies, materials, equipment and other commodities required by any office or agency of the town, including the Board of Education, to the extent that said Board of Education shall authorize him or her to do so;
- (k) The Finance Officer may appoint and may remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and to such rules and regulations concerning town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen pursuant to the provisions of Chapter XII of this Charter, all deputies, assistants or employees of his or her office;
- (I) He or she shall have authority over and be responsible for the Tax Collector, Assessor, and their operations.

SECTION 1006. TAX COLLECTOR

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Tax Collector who shall be qualified by training and experience and who shall serve for an indefinite term. Said Tax Collector shall have all the powers and duties, not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes on such officers and such powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. Said Tax Collector may appoint and may remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and pursuant to the provisions of Chapter XII of this Charter, all deputies, assistants or employees in his or her office.

SECTION 1007. ASSESSOR

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint an Assessor who shall possess such qualifications as are required for said office by the General Statues and who shall serve for an indefinite term. Said Assessor shall have all the powers and duties, not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes on assessors and such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. Said Assessor may appoint and may remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and subject to the rules and regulations concerning town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen pursuant to the provisions of Chapter XII of this Charter, all deputies, assistants or employees in his or her office.

SECTION 1008. EMERGENCY AND RISK MANAGER

Recommendation #5

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint an Emergency and Risk Manager who shall serve for an indefinite term. The Manager is responsible for the functions outlined in Ellington Position Description 710, including the review of and adjustments to the Town Emergency Plan as filed with the State Office of Emergency Management. He or she shall meet the qualifications described in the Town of Ellington Position Description 710. Director of Emergency Management who shall serve for a term of two (2) years. Said Director of Emergency Management shall have all the powers and duties, not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, conferred or imposed by Section 28-7 of the General Statutes, as amended and such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 1009. WELFARE OFFICER- REPEALED 11/5/02 - (SEE SECTION 1021)

SECTION 1010. DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Director of Public Works, who shall possess such qualifications as are required for said office, and who shall serve for an indefinite term. It shall be the duty of the Department of Public Works to maintain, repair, clean, and remove snow from all public streets and ways; maintain and operate storm sewers and other drains; care for and maintain all town buildings other than those under the jurisdiction of the Board of Education; the Department of Public Works shall have exclusive control of the care, maintenance and repair of the library building and physical facilities and the library grounds; coordinate the Recycling Program; prepare or supervise the preparation of plans and specifications for the construction or reconstruction of streets, sidewalks, curbs, gutters, storm sewers, drains, public buildings and other structures and construct or supervise the construction of the same, provided that nothing herein shall preclude the employment of engineers and architects on any such project, or the appointment of citizen advisory committees on the construction of school or other public building. Further duties of the Public Works Department shall be to care for parks, grassed areas in streets and public grounds; the Public Works Department shall maintain all athletic fields and public beaches including those under the jurisdiction of the Board of Education and the Parks and Recreation Commission; to plant and care for trees within the street line; to enforce the provisions of the building code, zoning ordinances, and ordinances imposing on owners of property obligations to construct and maintain sidewalks, curbs, gutters, storm sewers and drains; and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen by ordinance. Said Department of Public Works may contract with the town Water Pollution Control Authority for the maintenance of the facilities and grounds which come under the jurisdiction of the Water Pollution Control Authority. The Director of Public Works shall appoint a Tree Warden. The Director of Public Works shall serve as an ex-officio member of the Permanent Building Committee. He or she may organize the Public Works Department in such a manner as he or she shall deem most economical and efficient and may make and enforce such reasonable rules and regulations not inconsistent with the regulations of the General Statutes or the provision of this Charter, as may be necessary to exercise the powers and duties imposed on him or her by virtue of this provision of the Charter. He or she may delegate such powers to subordinate employees and shall have the authority to appoint and to remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and

such rules and regulations concerning town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen, all deputies, assistants or employees in this department. [AMENDED 11/6/18]

SECTION 1011. BUILDING OFFICIAL

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Building Official who shall possess such qualifications as are required for said office by the General Statutes. Said Building Official shall serve for an indefinite term. Said Building Official shall be the enforcement officer of the building code of the town. He or she shall have all the powers and duties, not inconsistent with this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes on such offices and powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. Said Building Official may appoint and may remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and subject to such rules and regulations concerning town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen pursuant to Chapter XII of this Charter, all deputies, assistants or employees in his or her office.

SECTION 1012. TOWN ENGINEER

Recommendation #6

The Board of Selectmen may shall appoint a Town Engineer in accordance with section 1111 of this Charter, and as recommended by the Director of Public Works and the Town Planner. The town, in the alternative, may hire an exempt town employee as the town engineer. The Town Engineer who shall be a licensed civil engineer. Said The Town Engineer shall serve for an indefinite term. All powers and duties of said Town Engineer shall be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen.

SECTION 1013. TOWN ATTORNEY

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint, not later than thirty (30) days after the commencement of their first term of office under the provisions of this Charter, a Town Attorney who shall serve for a term of two (2) years. Said Town Attorney shall be an attorney at law admitted to practice law in this state. Except as otherwise provided by law, he or she shall appear for and protect the rights of the town in all actions, suits, or procedures brought by or against it or any of its departments, offices, agencies, boards, or commissions. He or she shall be the legal advisor of the Board of Selectmen, First Selectman, and all town officers, agencies, boards, or commissions in all matters affecting the town and shall upon written request furnish a written opinion on any questions of law involving their respective powers and duties. Upon request he or she shall prepare or approve forms of contracts of other instruments to which the town is a party or in which it has an interest. He or she shall have the power, with the approval of the Board of Selectmen, to appeal from orders, decisions, and judgments, and subject to the approval of said Board of Selectmen, to compromise or settle any claims by or against the town. If, in special circumstances, or for investigation under Section 607 of this Charter, the Board of Selectmen deems it advisable, they may by resolution provide for the temporary employment of counsel other than, or in addition to, the Town Attorney.

SECTION 1014. CONSTABLES

The First Selectman shall have the power to appoint Special Constables, as that term is defined by section 7-92 of the Connecticut General Statutes, as amended, for a term not to exceed one (1) year. The above powers and duties as conferred or imposed upon the office of constable as aforementioned may not apply to an office created by the town's chief executive authority notwithstanding the name or title given to such office. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 1015. DIRECTOR OF HEALTH

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint and may remove a Town Director of Health. The town may continue as a constituent unit of a Regional Health District established pursuant to the provisions of Connecticut General Statutes, Section 19a-240 through 246, inclusive, as amended. For so

long as the town continues as a constituent unit of said district, the Director of Health for said district shall function as Town Director of Health. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 1016. DIRECTOR OF RECREATION

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint and may remove a Director of Recreation who shall serve for an indefinite term. Said Director of Recreation shall be in charge of the administration of the recreation program in the town and shall be responsible for the implementation of recreational policies approved by the Parks and Recreation Commission and the Board of Selectmen. Said Director of Recreation may appoint and may remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and subject to such rules and regulations concerning town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen, all deputies, assistants or employees in his or her office. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 1017. FIRE MARSHAL

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Fire Marshal and such deputies as may be required. Said Fire Marshal and such deputies shall serve an indefinite term. The respective fire departments may offer advisory recommendations for consideration by the Board of Selectmen for any such appointments. Said Fire Marshal shall have all the powers and duties not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes on such offices and such powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. Said Fire Marshal may appoint and remove deputies, assistants, and employees in his or her office, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and subject to rules and regulations concerning town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen. [AMENDED 11/7/17]

SECTION 1018. FIRE DEPARTMENT – REPEALED 11/6/07 [see Section 1023]

SECTION 1019. ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint an Animal Control Officer and such deputies as may be required, who shall have all the powers and duties not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes, as amended, on such officers and such powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen.

SECTION 1020. AMBULANCE SERVICE – REPEALED 11/6/07 [see Section 1023]

SECTION 1021. DIRECTOR OF HUMAN SERVICES

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint and may remove a Director of Human Services who shall serve an indefinite term and who shall possess such qualifications as are required for said office. The Director of Human Services shall serve as the Welfare Officer for the town and also shall be in charge of the administration of all welfare activities of the town. Said Director of Human Services shall have all the powers and duties, not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, conferred or imposed by the General Statutes with regard to poor and dependent persons and such other powers and duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Selectmen. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 1022. TOWN PLANNER

The Board of Selectmen shall appoint a Town Planner who shall serve an indefinite term and who shall possess such qualifications as are required for said office. Said Town Planner shall:

(a) Lead and coordinate reviewing/updating of the town Plan of Conservation and Development;

(b) Serve as technical advisor and administrative officer to the Planning and Zoning Commission, Zoning Board of Appeals, Inland Wetlands Agency, Conservation Commission, Design

Review Board and the Economic Development Commission, assisting such commissions in the discharge of their statutory duties; act as Zoning Enforcement and Wetlands Officer as necessary; [AMENDED 11/7/17]

- (c) Maintain up-to-date inventories, maps and related information of wetlands, open space, and areas of ecological, biological, geological, and hydrological significance. Aid the aforementioned commissions in updating regulations, ordinances permits, etcetera;
- (d) Cooperate in the development of town capital improvement programs and capital budget recommendations;
- (e) Prepare and present technical, statistical and narrative reports and studies as assigned by the First Selectman, the Board of Selectmen, and land use commissions.

Said Town Planner may appoint and may remove, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen and subject to such rules and regulations concerning town employees as may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen pursuant to Chapter XII of this Charter, all deputies, assistants or employees in his or her office. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 1023. EMERGENCY SERVICES

Emergency Services to the Town of Ellington will be provided by Ellington Volunteer Fire Department, Inc., Crystal Lake Fire District/Crystal Lake Fire Department and Ellington Volunteer Ambulance Corps, Inc. The Board of Selectmen shall execute a written contract with each agency specifying details of such service. As a minimum, each contract will delineate type and scope of services provided, primary response areas, financial relationships, and reporting requirements between the Town of Ellington and each agency. Each contract shall be reviewed and revised as necessary by the Board of Selectmen and each agency no less than biennially. [ADDED 11/6/07; AMENDED 11/6/18]

In the event that any of the above named organizations become incapable of providing the services as defined in their contract, the Board of Selectmen may provide for other means of delivery of emergency services in lieu of said volunteer company(s). [ADDED 11/6/18]

SECTION 1024. TOWN ADMINISTRATOR [NEW]

Recommendation #7

(a) Qualifications

The Town Administrator shall be chosen exclusively on the basis of their executive and administrative qualifications, character, education, training and experience. The Town Administrator is not required to be a resident of town.

(b) Appointment

The Town Administrator shall be appointed by the Board of Selectmen. The Town Administrator is an exempt position of indefinite term. The compensation and benefits shall be in accordance with the town classification, policies and Section 1205 of this Charter.

(c) Removal of the Town Administrator

The Town Administrator may be removed by a 2/3 vote of the entire membership of the Board of Selectmen. At least thirty (30) days before the proposed removal of the Administrator, the Board of Selectmen shall adopt a resolution stating their intention to remove the Administrator and the reasons therefore. A copy of the resolution shall be served on the Town Administrator who, within ten (10) working days, may demand a public

hearing, in which case the Administrator shall not be removed until such hearing has been held. The Board of Selectmen may suspend from duty the Town Administrator upon passage of the resolution provided that the salary and benefits of the Administrator shall continue until removal from office. The action of the Board in removing the Town Administrator shall be final.

(d) Duties and Responsibilities

The Town Administrator shall the Chief Administrative Officer of the Town of Ellington and is responsible to the Board of Selectmen for the supervision, direction, and administration of all departments, agencies, and offices listed in Chapter X of this Charter. The Town Administrator may perform the duties of any officer under his or her authority, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen.

The Town Administrator may, subject to the approval of the Board of Selectmen, appoint or remove any administrative officer, or town employee(s) in accordance with he provisions of Connecticut General Statutes, provisions of Chapter XII of this Charter, or other rules and regulations concerning town employees. (Excludes employees under the Board of Education).

The Town Administrator may, with the approval of the Board of Selectmen, enter into contracts or agreements with the United States government, or any agency thereof, with the State of Connecticut or any agency or political subdivision thereof, any person body politic, or corporation.

The Town Administrator shall be responsible to the Board of Selectmen for the functions called out in the Town of Ellington Position Description 108 as approved or amended by the Board of Selectmen. The Town Administrator shall work collaboratively with the First Selectman.

CHAPTER XI. FINANCE AND TAXATION

SECTION 1101. FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the town shall begin on the first day of July and shall end on the 30th day of June. Accounts for the town shall be maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles related to accounting, auditing, and financial reporting, and pursuant to Chapter 111 of the General Statutes, as amended.

SECTION 1102. BUDGET PREPARATION

It shall be the duty of the First Selectman to require each department, office, and agency of the town supported wholly or in part by town funds, or for which a specific town appropriation is made, including the Board of Education, to submit to the Finance Officer not later than the fifteenth (15th) day of February in each year on forms provided by him or her a detailed estimate of expenditures and revenues, other than tax revenues, incurred or earned by such department, office or agency for both the current fiscal year and the ensuing fiscal year. Such estimates shall be accompanied by information set forth in the manner prescribed by the Board of Finance describing a program or programs showing services, activities, and work accomplished during the current fiscal year and to be accomplished during the ensuing fiscal year. It shall be the responsibility of the Finance Officer to compile all figures of actual revenues and expenditures for the last completed fiscal year, the budgeted amount of revenues and expenditures for the current fiscal year and the actual amount to date for the current fiscal year.

SECTION 1103. DUTIES OF THE FINANCE OFFICER ON THE BUDGET

Not later than the fifteenth (15th) day of March in each year the Finance Officer shall present to the Board of Finance a budget consisting of (a) the budget message outlining the financial condition of the town government and describing in connection therewith the important features of the budget plan indicating any major changes from the current fiscal year in financial conditions, expenditures, and revenues together with the reasons for such changes, and containing a clear general summary of its contents; (b) estimates of revenues, presenting in parallel columns the itemized revenues in the last completed fiscal year, the budgeted revenues for the current fiscal year, the revenues earned during the current fiscal year prior to the time of preparing the estimates, total revenues estimated to be earned during the current fiscal year, estimates of revenues, other than from the property tax, to be earned in the ensuing fiscal year, and an estimate of available surplus or existing deficit; (c) itemized estimates of expenditures, presented in parallel columns of the actual expenditures for each department, office, agency, or activity for the last completed fiscal year, the budgeted expenditures for the current fiscal year, the current fiscal year actual expenditures prior to the time of preparing the estimates, total expenditures as estimated for the current fiscal year, appropriations as proposed by each department, office, or agency for all items for the ensuing fiscal year, and such other information as may be required by the Board of Finance.

SECTION 1104. DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF FINANCE ON THE BUDGET

The Board of Finance shall hold one or more public hearings on the individual budget requests of each board, agency, or commission before March thirty-first (31st) of each year. The Board of Finance shall request the presence at such hearings of a representative of each board, agency, or commission submitting a budget request. At such hearing, any qualified elector or taxpayer shall have an opportunity to be heard regarding appropriations for the ensuing fiscal year.

Following compilation of the revenue and expenditure estimates which form a preliminary budget for the ensuing fiscal year, the Board of Finance shall cause sufficient copies of said preliminary budget to be made available for general distribution in the office of the Town Clerk. The Board of Finance shall hold the public hearing on the second (2nd) Tuesday of April on said preliminary budget. The Board of Finance budget deliberations will commence two days later on Thursday. The Board of Finance shall request the presence at such hearings of a representative of each board, agency or commission submitting a request. At such hearings, any gualified elector or taxpayer shall have an opportunity to be heard regarding appropriations for the ensuing fiscal year and at least five (5) days prior to the first of the public hearings on the preliminary budget, the Board of Finance shall cause to be published, in a newspaper having general circulation in the town, a notice of such public hearing and summary of said preliminary budget showing anticipated revenue by major sources, and requested expenditures by function or departments in the same columnar form as prescribed for budget estimates in Section 1103 of this Charter, and shall also show the amount to be raised by taxation. Within fifteen (15) days after holding the final of such public hearings, the Board of Finance shall hold one (1) or more public deliberations and by resolution adopted by affirmative vote of at least four (4) members, the Board of Finance shall approve a budget and file the same with the Town Clerk for submission to the annual town budget meeting for its adoption. The estimate of expenditures submitted by the Board of Finance to the annual town budget meeting shall include a recommendation for a contingency fund which shall not exceed three (3) percent of the total expenditures for the current fiscal year. The estimate of expenditures submitted by the Board of Finance to the annual town budget meeting will provide a contribution to the Capital Reserve Fund in order to maintain at least a minimum of five (5) percent of the total expenditures for the current year. No expenditure or transfer may be made from this fund without approval of the Board of Finance. Any expenditure or transfer in excess of forty thousand dollars (\$40,000) per transaction must be submitted to the vote of a duly called town meeting as set forth in Section 7-348 in the General Statutes, as amended. The budget, as approved by the Board of Finance, shall be published at least five (5) days prior to the annual town budget meeting in the same manner as prescribed in this section for purposes of publication prior to the Board of Finance's public hearing on the preliminary budget. An official copy of the budget as finally approved by the Board of Finance shall be filed with the Town Clerk. Should the Board of Finance fail to approve a budget within the specified fifteen (15) days, the budget, as submitted to the Board of Finance, in accordance with the provisions of Section 1103 of this Charter shall be deemed to have been finally approved by the Board of Finance and the same shall be filed with the Town Clerk for submission to the town meeting for the purposes of final adoption in accordance with Section 702 of this Charter. Within ten (10) days after the acceptance of the budget at a town budget meeting, the Board of Finance by resolution shall fix the tax rate in mills or fraction thereof which shall be levied on the taxable property in the town for the ensuing fiscal year. For the purposes of Chapters 108 and 111 of the General Statutes, as amended, the Board of Finance shall be deemed to be the budget-making authority and shall have all the powers and duties contained in said Chapter 108 for the creation of a "Reserve Fund for Capital and Non-recurring Expenditures." [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

SECTION 1105. DUTIES OF THE BOARD OF FINANCE

(a) In addition to the duties prescribed in Section 1104 of this Charter, the Board of Finance shall have the power to select the independent public accountant who shall conduct an audit of the records and accounts of the town, including the Board of Education, as provided in Chapter 111 of the General Statutes, as amended. Said audit shall be completed in accordance with Connecticut State Statute Section 7-393, as amended. The Board of Finance shall also have the power to initiate and appropriate funds for special inquiries by said independent auditors of financial situations that, in the opinion of the Board of Finance, warrant the interim audit and/or gathering of specific information on any accounts, investments or funds operating under the control of employees, boards or agents of the Town of Ellington.

- (b) The Board of Finance shall, with the assistance of the Finance Officer, prepare and publish the Annual Town Report. Said Report shall be available for distribution as soon as possible after the close of the fiscal year, but not later than the thirty-first (31st) day of October following the close of said fiscal year.
- (c) Upon recommendation of the Board of Selectmen and the Board of Finance and approval by the annual town budget meeting a reserve fund established for capital and non-recurring expenses shall be established in accordance with the General Statutes as amended. All or a portion of said fund may be used to finance planning, construction, or acquisition of any specific item or equipment. Any appropriation from this fund must be for a specific sum plainly designated for each project and must be recommended by the Board of Finance and submitted to the vote of a duly called town meeting.

SECTION 1106. DUTIES OF THE TOWN MEETING ON THE BUDGET

The annual budget shall become effective only after it has been approved by resolution of the Board of Finance, and adopted at the annual town budget meeting. Should the annual town budget meeting fail to adopt the budget, the vote on the budget shall be adjourned to referendum to be held two (2) weeks after the town meeting is adjourned and every other week thereafter until final approval is given. Any budget which has been rejected by referendum in accordance with Chapter VII of this Charter shall be considered in the interim by the Board of Finance, which may revise the rejected budget and shall present it at a subsequent budget referendum for acceptance. If the budget remains unaccepted after such reconsideration referendum, the budget adopted for the then current fiscal year shall be deemed to be the temporary budget for the forthcoming fiscal year and expenditures may be made on a month-to-month basis in accordance therewith until such time as the annual town budget referendum finally adopts a new budget. The Board of Selectmen shall have the authority to permit separate votes on the town's operating budget and the town's education budget for any budget which has failed to be approved by referendum. [AMENDED 11/6/07, 11/6/18]

SECTION 1107. EXECUTION OF THE BUDGET

Prior to the beginning of the fiscal year, the Finance Officer shall advise each department, office, and agency of the town supported wholly or in part by town funds, or for which a specific town appropriation is made, of the appropriations approved by the annual budget meeting. Within ten (10) days thereafter, any department, agency, or office, as requested by the Finance Officer, shall submit to the Finance Officer a work program for the full fiscal year with a suggested schedule of monthly appropriation allotments which shall not exceed in total the corresponding individual appropriation. The Finance Officer shall review and modify as necessary the proposed work program and suggested monthly allotment schedule and submit to the First Selectman a recommended program and allotment schedule for all appropriations for the budget year. Upon approval of the Board of Selectmen the Finance Officer shall advise each department, agency, and office of the approved program and allotment schedule. The Finance Officer shall authorize all expenditures for the offices, departments, and agencies to be made from the appropriations on the basis of approved allotments and not otherwise. An approved allotment may be revised during the budget year in the same manner as the original allotment was made. If at any time during the budget year, the Finance Officer shall ascertain that the available income, plus balances, for the year will be less than the total appropriations, he or she shall reconsider the work programs and allotments of the several offices, departments, and agencies and recommend to the First Selectman revised allotments so as to forestall the making of expenditures in excess of the said income.

SECTION 1108. EMERGENCY APPROPRIATIONS

For the purpose of meeting a public emergency threatening the lives, health, or property of citizens, emergency appropriations, the total amount of which shall not exceed two hundred and fifty thousand dollars (\$250,000) may be made upon the recommendation of at least four (4) members of the Board of Selectmen and by an affirmative vote of not less than four (4) members of the Board of Finance. In the absence of sufficient general fund resources to meet such appropriations additional means of financing shall be provided in such manner, consistent with the provisions of the General Statutes and of this Charter, as may be determined by the Board of Finance. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

SECTION 1109. EXPENDITURES AND ACCOUNTING

Recommendation #8

- (a) No purchase shall be made by any office, agency, board, or commission of the town, other than the Board of Education, except through procedures established by the Board of Selectmen.
- (b) No voucher, claim, or charge against the town, except those against the Board of Education, shall be paid until the same has been audited by the Finance Officer and approved by him or her for correctness and validity. Payment of all claims against the Board of Education shall be authorized by the Superintendent of Schools or his or her agent. Payment of all approved claims against all other town accounts shall be authorized by the First Selectman. Said authorization shall be valid when countersigned by the Finance Officer acting as the treasurer provided, in the absence or inability to act of the First Selectman or Finance Officer, the Town Administrator Deputy First Selectman shall substitute temporarily for said First Selectman or Finance Officer.
- (c) The Finance Officer shall prescribe the time at which and the manner in which persons receiving money on behalf of the town shall pay the same to him or her in his or her capacity as Town Treasurer.
- (d) No officer, agency, board, or commission of the town shall expend or commit the town to the expenditure of any money for any purpose in excess of the amount appropriated therefore until the matter has been approved by the Board of Selectmen and the Board of Finance and each order drawn upon the Treasurer shall state the office, agency, board, or commission and the appropriation against which it is to be charged.
 - (1) Upon completion of salary and benefit negotiations or adjustments by the Board of Selectmen with any employee or group of employees, the Board of Selectmen shall recommend and the Board of Finance may approve, a transfer of funds from a General Government Salary Adjustment Account, or additional appropriation, as the case may be, to the respective salary and benefit accounts of each affected department so as to accurately reflect the expense of each department. [ADDED 11/5/02]
- (e) In addition to the duties assigned to the Finance Officer under the provisions of this Charter, it shall be the duty of the Finance Officer to serve as advisor to the Board of Finance on all matters.
- (f) Upon the recommendation and request of the Board of Selectmen, during the last three (3) months of the fiscal year the Board of Finance may, by resolution, transfer any unencumbered appropriation, balance, or portion thereof from one department, commission, board, or office to another provided, however, that this provision shall not apply to the Board of Education. No transfer shall be made from any appropriation for debt service and other statutory charges.
- (g) Appropriations for construction or for other permanent improvements from whatever source derived, shall not lapse until the purpose for which the appropriation was made shall have

been accomplished or abandoned, provided any such project shall be deemed to have been abandoned if three (3) fiscal years shall elapse without any expenditure from or encumbrances of the appropriation therefore. Any portion of any other annual appropriation remaining unexpended and unencumbered at the close of the fiscal year shall lapse and revert to the general fund.

- (h) Every payment made in violation of the provisions of this Charter shall be deemed illegal, and every official willfully authorizing or making such payment or taking part therein shall be jointly and severally liable to the town for the full amount so paid or received.
- (i) The Board of Selectmen shall adopt, by resolution, such rules and regulations concerning expenditures and bidding procedures not inconsistent with the provisions of this section and Section 1110 of this Charter.
- (j) All grants that have the potential to impose any financial burden on the town must be approved by the Board of Selectmen and the Board of Finance prior to acceptance. At the time of the acceptance, all information regarding future costs and/or responsibilities must be presented to the Board of Selectmen and Board of Finance for review. [ADDED11/06/07]
- (k) As to capital non-recurring projects approved at the annual town budget meeting, upon the recommendation of the Board of Selectmen and Board of Finance approval, additional appropriations of forty-thousand dollars (\$40,000) may be made to the project without town meeting approval, as well as close out of capital projects under forty-thousand dollars (\$40,000). [ADDED11/06/07]

SECTION 1110. BORROWING

The town shall have the power to secure indebtedness by issuing its bonds or notes as provided by the General Statutes as amended subject to the limitations thereof and the provisions of this Charter.

SECTION 1111. PURCHASING

Recommendation #9

Purchases for the Town of Ellington, except the Board of Education and the Probate Court, shall be made under such rules and regulations as may be established by the Board of Selectmen. For any purchase that exceeds the limits established in Ellington Ordinance 28-1, estimated at seven thousand five hundred dollars (\$7,500) or more, the Finance Officer shall invite sealed bids unless the Board of Selectmen shall decide it to be against the best interest of the town. The Finance Officer shall provide a minimum of ten (10) days public notice to potential bidders by publication at least once in a newspaper having circulation in the town. The Finance Officer shall, with the approval of the requesting board, commission, committee, or department, award the purchase or contract to the lowest responsible bidder thereon or may reject any or all such bids or proposals. All such sealed bids or proposals shall be opened publicly. For any purchase less than the established limit seven thousand five hundred dollars (\$7,500), or such other amount required by law, the Finance Officer or his or her designee shall negotiate directly with prospective suppliers prior to the Finance Officer awarding the contract. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

CHAPTER XII. TOWN EMPLOYEES

SECTION 1201. GENERAL

The Board of Selectmen shall execute a merit system which shall provide that all officers and employees in the classified service of the town, as described in Section 1202, shall be appointed on the basis of merit and in conformity with recognized principles of public personnel administration.

SECTION 1202. THE CLASSIFIED SERVICE

The classified service shall include all full-time employees and regular part-time employees of the town, both now and hereafter hired, but shall not include elective officers and persons appointed to fill vacancies in elective offices; members of boards and commissions; employees of the Board of Education; persons employed in a professional capacity to make or conduct a temporary and special inquiry, study, or investigation; persons employed on a part-time basis; and persons employed for a temporary period not exceeding four (4) months. [AMENDED 11/5/02; 11/6/07]

SECTION 1203. JOB CLASSIFICATION

The Board of Selectmen shall prepare a statement of the duties and responsibilities of each position in the classified service and of the minimum qualifications for appointment to such position. These statements shall comprise the classification plan of the town and may be amended by resolution of the Board of Selectmen. New or additional positions in the classified service may be created or existing positions abolished and changes in duties and responsibilities of existing positions may be made by resolution of the Board of Selectmen.

SECTION 1204. PERSONNEL RULES

The Board of Selectmen shall prepare a set of personnel rules and regulations which shall provide, among other things, for the method of holding competitive examinations, probationary periods of employment, hours of work, vacations, sick leaves, and other leaves of absences, removals and such other rules as may be necessary to provide adequate and systematic procedure for the administration of the personnel affairs of the town. Such rules and regulations and any amendments thereto shall become effective upon being approved by resolution of the Board of Selectmen and filed with the Town Clerk. Copies of such rules and regulations and any amendments thereto shall be distributed to all town employees. The Board of Selectmen shall appoint, from within its own ranks, three members to serve on a Personnel Policies Committee whose responsibilities shall be to: advise the Board of Selectmen on problems concerning personnel and administration; make any investigation which it may consider desirable concerning the administration of personnel in the town service; and, at least annually, submit to the Board of Selectmen a report on progress of the merit system program during the past year, with its findings, conclusions, and recommendations for improving the merit system of the town; and administer any appeal process that may be established by the Board of Selectmen for any town employee within the classified system who is dismissed or demoted after completing his or her probationary period of service. [AMENDED 11/6/07]

SECTION 1205. SALARIES

The Finance Officer shall prepare for the First Selectman and the Town Administrator a proposed standard, systematic schedule of pay for each class of positions in the classified service. The First Selectman or the Town Administrator shall submit the proposed pay plan to the Board of Selectmen with any changes he or she deems necessary and such proposed plan shall take effect when adopted by resolution of the Board of Selectmen. Amendments to the pay schedule may be adopted by the Board of Selectmen from time to time upon recommendation of the First Selectman or the Town Administrator. For purposes of Chapter 113 of the General Statutes, as amended, the First Selectman or the Town Administrator shall have the sole authority to recognize the exclusive bargaining agent for any unit of town employees and shall act as the bargaining agent for the town.

SECTION 1206. RETIREMENT

The Board of Selectmen may provide by ordinance a system of retirement benefits for the regular full-time employees and regular part-time employees, including employees of the Board of Education at the request of the Board of Education. The town may operate its own retirement plan, may enter into a contract with any financial institution authorized to do business in this state, may elect to participate in the Connecticut Municipal Employees Retirement Plan, may elect to participate in the old age and survivor of insurance system under the Federal Social Security Act, or may choose any combination thereof. [AMENDED 11/5/02]

All references in this Charter to types and/or amounts of benefits are solely for the purposes of description, identification, and authorization. In all cases, the terms and provisions of the insurance, retirement, or other policies themselves and Internal Revenue Code Rules and Regulations shall govern any claim. [ADDED 11/5/02]

SECTION 1207. OFFICIAL BONDS

All officers and employees as may be required to do so by the Board of Selectmen or by the General Statutes, as amended shall, before entering on their respective official duties, execute to the town, in the form prescribed by the Board of Selectmen and approved by the Town Attorney, and file with the Town Clerk, a surety company bond in a penal sum to be fixed by the Board of Selectmen, conditioned upon the honest and/or the faithful performance of such duties. Nothing herein shall be construed to prevent the Board of Selectmen, if it deems it to be in the best interest of the town, from prescribing a name schedule bond, a schedule position bond or blanket bond, or from prescribing which departments, officers, agencies, boards, or commissions shall be covered by a specific type of the aforementioned bonds. Premiums for such bonds shall be paid by the town.

CHAPTER XIII. TRANSITION AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

SECTION 1301. TRANSFER OF POWERS

The powers which are conferred and the duties which are imposed upon any commission, board, department, or office under the General Statutes or any ordinance or regulation in force at the time this Charter shall take effect, if such commission, board, department, or office is abolished by this Charter or superseded by the creation herein of a new commission, board, or office to which are granted similar powers and jurisdiction, shall be thereafter exercised and discharged by the commission, board, department, or office upon which are imposed corresponding or like functions, powers and duties under the provisions of this Charter. All commissions, boards, departments, or offices abolished by this Charter, whether elective or appointive, shall continue in the performance of their duties until provisions have been made for the discontinuance of such commissions, boards, departments, or offices created under this Charter and until the Town Clerk shall have notified the members of such commissions, boards, departments, or offices as are abolished by this Charter that their successors have qualified.

SECTION 1302. PRESENT EMPLOYEES TO RETAIN POSITIONS

All employees of the town on the effective date of this Charter, whose positions are not abolished by the provisions of this Charter, shall retain such positions pending action by the Board of Selectmen or the appropriate officer charged by this Charter with powers of appointment and removal. Any provision of law in force at the time this Charter shall take effect, and not inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter, in relation to personnel, appointments, ranks, grades, tenure of office, promotions, removals, pension and retirement rights, civil rights, or any other rights or privileges of employees of the town or any office, department, or agency thereof, shall continue to be in effect, until or unless amended or repealed in accordance with the provisions of this Charter. Any person holding a position in the classified service as defined in this Charter on its effective date, shall be retained without preliminary or performance tests and shall thereafter be subject in all respects to the provisions of the Charter.

SECTION 1303. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Any elected or appointed officer, any member of any board or commission, or any employee of the town who has a financial interest direct or indirect, in any contract, transaction, or decision of any officer or agent of the town or any board or commission, shall disclose that interest to the Board of Selectmen for recording upon their official records and any such person shall be thereby disqualified from participation in the awarding, assignment, or discussion of any contract, transaction, or decision. Violation of this provision shall be grounds for the removal of any such person.

SECTION 1304. TRANSFER OF RECORDS AND PROPERTY

All records, property, and equipment whatsoever of any commission, board, department or office or part thereof, all the powers and duties which are assigned to any other commission, board, department, or office by this Charter, shall be transferred and delivered intact forthwith to the commission, board, department, or office to which such powers and duties are so assigned. If part of the powers and duties of any commission, board, department, or office are by this Charter assigned to another commission, board, department, or office, all records, property, and equipment relating exclusively thereto shall be transferred and delivered intact forthwith to the commission, board, department, or office to which such powers and duties are assigned.

SECTION 1305. CONTINUATION OF APPROPRIATIONS AND TOWN FUNDS

All appropriations approved and in force, and all funds, including special or reserve funds in the name of the town, at the time of the adoption of this Charter, shall remain in full force and effect unless and until the same shall be amended, transferred, or abolished by the Board of Selectmen under the provisions of this Charter.

SECTION 1306. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

No action or proceeding, civil or criminal, pending on the effective date of this Charter brought by or against the town or any commission, board, department, or office thereof, shall be affected or abated by the adoption of this Charter or by anything herein contained; but all such actions or proceedings may be continued notwithstanding that functions, powers, and duties of any commission, board, department, or officer which shall have been a party thereto may, by or under this Charter, be assigned or transferred to another commission, board, department, or the officer to which such functions, powers and duties have been assigned or transferred by or under this Charter.

SECTION 1307. EXISTING LAWS AND ORDINANCES

As of the effective date of this Charter, all general laws and special acts applying to the town, all ordinances and by-laws of the town, and all rules and regulations of commissions, boards, departments, and agencies of the town shall continue in force, except insofar as they are inconsistent with the provisions of this Charter or are repealed.

SECTION 1308. REVIEW AND AMENDMENT OF CHARTER

The Board of Selectmen shall review the several provisions of this Charter from time to time as it deems such review to be in the best interest of the town, but not less than once every five (5) years, said review to be published as part of the Annual Town Report. The amendment of this Charter may be initiated (a) by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the entire Board of Selectmen or (b) by a petition signed by not less than ten (10) percent of the electors of the town as determined by the last completed registry list of the town, such initiation in either instance to result in the appointment by the Board of Selectmen of a Charter Revision Commission, said Commission to consider any proposed amendments to the then existing Charter. Such proposed amendments shall not become effective until and unless the same shall have been approved by a majority of the town electors voting thereon at a regular election or if approved at a special election by a majority equal to at least fifteen (15) percent of the electors of the town, as determined by the last completed registry list of the town. The provisions of Chapter 99 of the General Statutes, as amended, as may now or hereafter apply to the manner of amending said Charter shall prevail in the event of any conflict with the provisions of this section of the Charter.

SECTION 1309. SAVING CLAUSE

If any section or part of any section of this Charter shall be held invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction such holding shall not affect the remainder of this Charter nor the context in which said section or part thereof so held invalid may appear, except to the extent that an entire section or part of a section may be inseparably connected in meaning and effect with the section or part of the section to which such ruling shall directly apply.

SECTION 1310. USAGE

When the context so requires the masculine gender shall include the feminine, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural the singular.

SECTION 1311. EFFECTIVE DATE

This Charter is effective November 4, 1975.

This amended Charter was approved and will become effective upon the approval of a majority of the town electors voting herein at a regular election as stated below in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 99 of the General Statutes, as amended, provided, however, no provision of this Charter shall be implemented until the effective date, except for purposes of preparing for the election of officials who shall take office after the first town election held under this Charter. Appointed or elected officials serving a specific term on the effective date shall continue to serve until the expiration of the term unless the office is abolished or made a part of the classified service. As terms expire or are vacated, the selectmen may, as necessary, make appointments for a short term in order to achieve the regular rotation of appointments, and all elected officials shall continue until their successors shall qualify and take office.

Amendments approved at the election on November 6, 1979 became effective on January 7, 1980.

Amendments approved at the election on November 4, 1986 became effective on November 3, 1987.

Amendments approved at the election on November 3, 1992 became effective on November 2, 1993.

Amendments approved at the election on November 5, 2002 became effective on January 1, 2003.

Amendments approved at the election on November 6, 2007 became effective on January 1, 2008.

Amendments approved at the election on November 7, 2017 became effective on January 1, 2018.

Amendments approved at the election on November 6, 2018 became effective on January 1, 2019.